Fresh- or seawater eels, or mixed life history strategies: what do the parasites tell?

Signe Haugsland



University of Bergen

The Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences

Institute of Biological Science

June 2020

Fresh- or seawater eels, or mixed life history strategies: what do the parasites tell?

Signe Haugsland





University of Bergen

The Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences

Institute of Biological Science

June 2020

© Signe Haugsland

2020

Fresh- or seawater eels, or mixed life history strategies: what do the parasites tell?

Signe Haugsland

http://bora.uib.no/

Front cover motive: The swimbladder nematode, *Anguillicola crassus*.

Abstract

The European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) is widely distributed in Europe and has an exceptional tolerance to different salinity environments. Despite of this it is listed as critically endangered on the ICUN Red List of Threatened Species[™] and vulnerable on the Norwegian Red List of Species. Historically, eels (*Anguilla* spp.) have been considered a catadromous fish species, but research has shown that some eels skip the freshwater phase, and some are habitat-shifters. These alternative life-history strategies may be the dominant at higher latitudes compared to southern Europe. Otolith microchemistry analyses, growth patterns, lipid profile, long-term dietary patterns and parasite fauna can be used to infer the type of residency the eels have had.

The aim of the present study was to get insight into the movement of eels between fresh and seawater using parasites as biological indicators, as well as provide background data on the occurrence of eel parasites in Norway and the geographical range of exotic eel parasites. European eel was caught at seven different localities along the Norwegian coast (58.3°-63.8°N), 93 freshwater and 78 seawater-caught. All 171 eels were dissected and examined for micro- and macro parasites. The eels examined were found to be infected with 34 different parasite species, with 18 species infecting eels caught in freshwater and 22 species in seawater-caught eels. Eleven species were only found in freshwater caught eels, 15 only in seawater caught eels and eight in eels from both habitats.

The three marine parasites found in freshwater eels occurred in 18 % of the fish. However, the studied freshwater locality in Grimstad has seawater influx and is frequented by some marine fishes. In the localities where such influence did not occur, only 3 % had parasites of marine origin, suggestive of inter-habitat shifting (IHS). Yet, myxosporean infections acquired by eels in freshwater were often as prevalent (>30 %) in eels from marine samples as in freshwater localities. This is an indication that most eels at some point had been in freshwater, likely a lake, and been exposed to infectious actinosporeans. These histozoic myxosporean infections are long-lasting, and can reflect only a single periode of freshwater residence, probably as elvers. Other parasites, with a shorter expected longevity in the seawater-caught eels and indicative of recent inter-habitat shifting were rare. These were occasional *Proteocephalus macrocephalus* (cestode) and *Anguillicola crassus* (swimbladder nematode) infections, registered in 4 % of the seawater-caught yellow eels.

In conclusion, some parasites can reveal if an eel has been in freshwater during its lifetime, while others indicate more recent movement between freshwater and marine habitats. Their usefulness depends on the level of knowledge on the life cycles, and knowledge in parasite longevity in the eels.

Acknowledgements

The present study is part of the MAREEL project at The Istitute of Marine Research (IMR) at Austevoll (funded by the Norwegian Research Council NFR project# 280658 and the Institute of Marine Research). The work has been conducted at The Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences (Institute of Biological Science) at the University of Bergen (UiB).

I would like to thank my co-supervisor Caroline Durif (IMR, project leader MAREEL) for letting me participate in the project, coordinating sampling, participating in field work and proofreading my thesis. Mehis Rohtla (IMR) and Camilla Parzanini (Ryerson Univerity) for running analyses and giving me access to their results. Terje van der Meeren (IMR) for sampling eels from Smøla, Eva Thorstad (NINA) for providing samples, Anton Rikstad and Kjersti Hanssen (County Governor of Trøndelag) for sampling in Bjugn and Øystein Skaala and Per Tommy Fjeldheim (IMR) for facilitating the examination of eels at the Etne field station.

I also wish to give a huge thanks to my supervisor Egil Karlsbakk (UiB) for guiding me and showing great enthusiasm throughout this project. All his knowledge and experience has been of big help. And thanks to Lindsey Moore (UiB) for lab training, encouragement and proofreading.

A sincere thanks to my fellow students for laughs and fun times through five years at UiB.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my roommates for putting up with me, in addition to my family for not only supporting me through my studies, but always.

Bergen, June 2020

Signe Haugsland



Glossary

Abundance	The number of individuals of a particular parasite in/on a single host regardless of whether or not the host is infected (Bush et al. 1997).
Cercariae	Free swimming larval stage of trematodes
Coelozoic	Lives in a cavity of an animal's body.
Component community	Refers to all infrapopulations of parasites associated with some subset of a host species or a collection of free-living phases associated with some subset of the abiotic environment (Bush et al. 1997).
Final host	The host in which the parasite attains sexual maturity.
Habitat	The locality or external environment in which the eel lives.
Histozoic	Living within tissues but outside of the cell.
Infracommunity	A community of parasite infrapopulations in a single host (Bush et al. 1997).
Inter-habitat shifter	Eel that move once or twice between freshwater and seawater through their growth face.
Intermediate host	A host in which a parasite passes one or more of its asexual stages.
Intensity	The number of individuals of a particular parasite species in a single infected host (Bush et al. 1997).

Locality	A geographic location of the external environment where the parasite is found (Bush et al. 1997).
Metacercariae	Encapsulated larval stage of trematodes, in the second intermediate host, normally the infective stadium.
Plerocercoid	Larval stage of cestodes.
Prevalence	The number of hosts infected with one or more individuals of a particular parasite species divided by the number of hosts examined for that parasite species (%) (Bush et al. 1997).
Site/location	The topological or spatial location on a host where a particular sample of parasites is collected (Bush et al. 1997).
Transport/paratenic host	A host not needed for the development of the parasite, but serves to maintain the parasite's life cycle.

Abbreviations

BLAST	Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
bp	Basepairs
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
FA	Fatty acid
FET	Fisher's exact test
FW	Freshwater
FWR	Freshwater resident
x g	Relative centrifugal force
g	Gram
HES	Hematoxylin-Eosin-Safran
IHS	Inter habitat shifter
IMR	Institute of Marine Research
in vitro	In site, within the sample
ITS	Internal transcribed spacer
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature
km	Kilometer
km ²	Square kilometer
1	Liter
LSU	Large Sub-Unit, about the rRNA gene (LSU rDNA), also called 28S in animals
M/F	Marine to freshwater ratio
Min	Minutes
ml	Milliliter
mm	Millimeter

mm ²	Square millimeter
MWR	Marine water resident
Ν	Number of specimens
NCBI	National Centre for Biotechnology Information
ng	Nanogram
nt	Nucleotides
р	p-value
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
rDNA	Ribosomal DNA, DNA sequence coding for ribosomal RNA
r _s	Spearman rank correlation-coefficient
rxn	Reaction
Saline	Saltwater diluted to about physiological salinity (10 ‰)
Sec/s	Second
Sensu	In the sense of
Sensu lato	In the old i.e. wide sense, normally used when a species has been split.
Sensu stricto	In the strict i.e. recent sense, normally used when a species have been split into several
SSU	Small Sub-Unit, about the rRNA gene (SSU rDNA), also called 18S in animals
SW	Seawater
UiB	University of Bergen
V	Volt
Vide	"see" (L.), used here to connect citations that must be considered
	together to make sense.
μl	Microliter

μM MicroMc

μm Micrometer

Table of contents

1	INT	RODUCTION	1
	1.1	EUROPEAN EEL	1
	1.2	LIFE CYCLE	1
	1.3	EEL FISHING AND AQUACULTURE IN NORWAY	3
	1.4	EEL DECLINE	4
	1.5	PARASITES IN THE EUROPEAN EEL	5
	1.6	Аім	9
2	MA	TERIAL AND METHOD	10
	2.1	SAMPLING	10
	2.2	LOCALITIES	11
	2.2.1	1 Landvikvannet ('Grimstad FW')	11
	2.2.2	2 The Inner Grosfjord ('Grimstad SW')	12
	2.2.3	3 Litledalsvatnet ('Etne FW')	13
	2.2.4	4 The Etnefjord ('Etne SW')	13
	2.2.5	5 The river Botngårdelva ('Bjugn')	14
	2.2.0	6 Smøla ('Smøla')	15
	2.2.2	7 Orkla River drainage area ('Orkla')	16
	2.3	DISSECTION AND PARASITE EXAMINATION	17
	2.4	EXTRACTION AND PURIFICATION OF NUCLEIC ACIDS	19
	2.5	POLYMERASE CHAIN REACTION (PCR)	20
	2.6	GEL ELECTROPHORESIS	22
	2.7	SEQUENCING AND ANALYSES	23
	2.8	HISTOLOGY	23
	2.9	FATTY ACID ANALYSIS	23
	2.10	OTOLITH MICROCHEMISTRY ANALYSES	24
	2.11	STATISTICS AND DIVERSITY INDICES	24
3	RES	SULTS	25
	3.1	PARASITES DETECTED	25
	3.1.1	1 Protists	25
	3.1.2	2 Myxosporea	27
		X	III

	3.1.3	Plathyhelminthes	
	3.1.4	Acanthocephala	
	3.1.5	Nematoda	
3.	.2 F	FRESH GILLS EXAMINATION	60
3.	.3 P	PARASITE DIVERSITY	60
3.	.4 E	IABITAT AND PARASITE ORIGIN	61
3.	.5 F	FATTY ACID ANALYSIS	63
3.	.6 C	DTOLITH MICROCHEMISTRY ANALYSES	64
4	DISC	USSION	66
4.	.1 P	PARASITES IN EUROPEAN EEL FROM NORWAY	66
	4.1.1	Protists	66
	4.1.2	Myxosporea	66
	4.1.3	Platyhelmintes	69
	4.1.4	Acanthocephala	
	4.1.5	Nematoda	
	4.1.6	Parasites not found	85
4.	.2 P	PARASITE COMMUNITIES	86
4.	.3 S	PREAD OF EXOTIC PARASITES	87
4.	.4 P	PARASITES AS BIOLOGICAL INDICATORS	88
	4.4.1	Parasites as inter-habitat shifting indicators	88
	4.4.2	Parasites as diet indicators	90
5	CON	CLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	92
REI	FEREN	NCES	93
API	PENDI	X	104

1 Introduction

1.1 European eel

The European eel (*Anguilla Anguilla*) is widely distributed, from northern Norway and Iceland in the north, all over Europe including around the Mediterranean, down to the northwest coast of Africa (Tesch 2003). In Norway, the European eel is registered in 1788 waters and lakes representing 361 precipitation areas. However, many lakes and watercourses have not been investigated. In the coastal areas it is seen that the eel abundance decrease northwards (IMR 2017).

The European eel's tolerance to different salinity environments is exceptional. The fish can be found in all kinds of habitats: rivers and lakes, marshes, brackish water, fjord systems and marine coastal waters (Tesch 2003, Daverat et al. 2006). The European eel have historically been considered a catadromous fish species that spawn in seawater and grow in freshwater. In later years the species has been reclassified as a facultative catadromous species due to research done on the strontium and calcium ratio in the otoliths (Tsukamoto et al. 1998). This together with other analyses suggested that some eels never migrate into freshwater, and that some move once or twice between both environments throughout their growth phase. Some research shows that inter-habitat shifting may be the dominant strategy at higher latitudes (Daverat et al. 2006, Durif et al. 2008). The type of residency the eels have had can be inferred from the microchemistry analysis of the otoliths, with the help of growth patterns, lipid profile, long-term dietary patterns and parasite faunas.

1.2 Life cycle

The European eel has a complex life cycle (Fig. 1). The larvae hatch from eggs spawned in the Sargasso Sea area, and develop into characteristic leptocephalus larvae which are transparent with a leaf-like structure (Schmidt 1923).



Figure 1 The life cycle of the European eel starting with eggs hatching in the Sargasso Sea area and the leptocephalus larvae drifting with the Gulf stream and enter the European coast as glass eels. Then becoming yellow eels which feed and grow before metamorphosing into silver eels and swim back to the Sargasso sea to spawn (Henkel et al. 2012).

The larvae float in the water column and are transported by the Gulf Stream to Europe where they are dispersed along the European coast (Tesch 2003). The drifting from the western Atlantic to Europe takes approximately one to two years, and the eels arrive at the coast of Europe in the spring (Tesch 2003, Bonhommeau et al. 2009). Before they reach the coast of Europe, they metamorphose into glass eels. Glass eels have the shape of an adult eel but they have no pigmentation. This stage lasts a few months (Schmidt 1923, van den Thillart et al. 2009). Some of the eels will now remain in marine and brackish water in lagoons or estuaries, while others will move upstream and end up in rivers and lakes. The eels feed and grow during their time in freshwater (Tesch 2003). This is the longest period in the life cycle and can last from four to sometimes 30 years or more (Poole & Reynolds 1996, Durif et al. 2020). During this time the eels reach full pigmentation and become yellow eels. There are growth and size differences between males and females. Most large eel, over 45 cm in length, are females (Tesch 2003). After many years in freshwater, the eels undergo a second

metamorphosis known as silvering and transform into silver eels (van den Thillart et al. 2009). They stop growing and start migration towards the ocean. Silvering preadapts the eel to deep-sea conditions and for sexual maturation. This metamorphosis is largely unpredictable, unlike smoltification in salmonids and occurs at various ages and sizes. In females, the age can vary between four and 30 years and in males between 2 and 15 years. Mean total lengths of male European silver eels range between 35 and 46 cm, and females have a range of means from 50 cm to over 1 m (Tesch 2003, Durif et al. 2009b). Several changes occur during silvering. All sensory organs become more developed, including enlarged eyes. The pectoral fin length increases significantly and changes in colour to black. The enlarged fins will contribute with stabilization in the open water during migration. The skin also adapts to the pelagic environment by changing colour. In the silver stage, an eel display a white silver belly separated from a black dorsal region by the lateral line. The skin thickens and an accumulation of fat occurs. Some of the fat is used as an energy source for gonad development, but the majority will be used for swimming. During this period and until the end of their life cycle the eels stop feeding and the alimentary tract degenerates (Schmidt 1923, Durif et al. 2005, van den Thillart et al. 2009). After the eels have gone through silvering and reach the ocean, the long-distance migration to the spawning location in the Sargasso Sea starts. They swim approximately 6000 km, and during this period they undergo sexual maturation. The downstream migration together with the long-distance migration lasts about 6 months. When they reach the spawning grounds they spawn and most likely die afterward (Durif et al. 2008, van den Thillart et al. 2009). Spawning takes place in early spring and can last until late summer (Schmidt 1923).

1.3 Eel fishing and aquaculture in Norway

The eel is a highly valued fish in many countries. But in Norway, there has historically been a low interest for eels (Durif et al. 2011). It has been illegal to fish eel since 2010, due to the European eel population crash. Up until then, the annual recorded eel catch varied between 200-400 tons (Statistics Norway 2019).

The Japanese have farmed eel in ponds since around 1880. Development of eel farming in Europe started in the mid-1900s with the use of the Japanese strategy with eel farming in ponds. This was most feasible in the southern parts of Europe, with France and Italy that had a favourable climate for farming in ponds (Herland et al. 1997, Skiftesvik et al. 2003). The

demand for eel was bigger than the production, therefor new localities and farming models were established (Herland et al. 1997). Eel farming spread northwards to more temperate areas, such as Denmark and The Netherlands. Today European eel farming is mainly associated with recirculation systems, but flow-through systems have also been used (Skiftesvik et al. 2003). The freshwater used in the systems has to be heated for good growth throughout the year, with eels having the best growth at 25°C (Herland et al. 1997). Because the industry has not been successful in rearing larvae and producing glass eel, all eel farming in the world is based on wild caught eel that is placed in tanks and fed until they reach a certain weight. Scientists have however been able to get the eel to spawn in the laboratory (van Ginneken & Maes 2005). Eel farming in Norway was based on imported glass eels in the beginning, but since the import ban on glass eel, the production had to change and be based on capture of yellow eel (Herland et al. 1997, Skiftesvik et al. 2003). The interest for eel farming in Norway has varied, but several eel farms, based on different farming models, have been established (Skiftesvik et al. 2003). Today there are 14 concessions for eel in Norway (Directorate of Fisheries 2018), but no operating eel farms. This is due to the ban on the eel fishery. The last big eel farm in Norway, Farsund Aqua, closed down in 1998 due to problems with different pathogens (Engø 1997, Aasen 1999).

1.4 Eel decline

There has been a steady decline in the European eel stock for the past 40 years and the species is therefore listed as critically endangered on the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Red List of Threatened SpeciesTM (Freyhof & Kottelat 2010). The adult stock started to decrease in the 1940s and recruitment has collapsed since the early 1980s. The stock is considered outside safe biological limits and the decline seems to occur over most of the natural range of the European eel (ICES 2019). The decline in recruitment has been more pronounced in the North than in the rest of Europe. So with Norway representing the limit of the distribution range, changes in density are more likely to be detected here (Durif et al. 2020). In Norway, as in the rest of Europe, analyses has shown a decline in the eel stock, both in fresh and marine water subpopulations (Durif et al. 2008). The European eel is listed on the Norwegian Red List of Species. It was listed as critically endangered from 2006 to 2015, when the status got improved to vulnerable. This change came as a result of an improvement in the freshwater environment which had a positive effect on the eel abundance (IMR 2017). A new study by Durif et al. (2020) on the age of European silver eels in Norway reported a

mean age of 19 years for female silver eels, which is more than twice the mean age (eight years) used in the previous Norwegian assessment. With the generation length being used to classify endangered species into different IUCN categories, the results of the study will likely have an impact on the next revision of the Norwegian red listing, with the European eel being reassigned to critically endangered or at least an endangered status (Durif et al. 2020).

There are several possible causes for the decline. Two obvious reasons are habitat reduction and overfishing. The eel may have reduced access to the upper reaches of the watershed due to dams and other obstructions and downstream migration can be difficult for the silver eels which get entrained in the turbines of hydroelectric power plants. Other reasons may be pollution and diseases or parasites (Durif et al. 2008, Castonguay & Durif 2016, Aschonitis et al. 2017, Drouineau et al. 2018). Many of these reasons are only present in freshwater habitats, but some marine causes have also been hypothesized, one being a global change in oceanic currents, which could affect the larval drift to Europe. Also changes in ocean productivity and a decrease in food for leptocephalus larvae could cause variation in the recruitment (Durif et al. 2006). Higher temperatures at the spawning ground in the Sargasso Sea may also have a negative effect on the newly hatched larvae (IMR 2017).

European eel parasites, in particular invasive species, are suspected to play an important role in the decline in the population of their host (Fazio et al. 2008). The parasites can be considered as biological stressors. Not all cause disease in fish, but they may be present in a subclinical or carrier state as a potential causative factor in the decline (Mayo-Hernandez et al. 2015). The parasitic infections which leads to severe symptoms and eventually death of eels are caused primarily by highly pathogenic species (van den Thillart et al. 2009).

1.5 Parasites in the European eel

Parasite species that can be considered as serious pathogens for the European eel are *Pseudodactylogyrus anguillae* (Yin et Sproston, 1948), *P. bini* (Kikuchi, 1929) and *Anguillicola crassus* Kuwahara, Niimi et Itagaki, 1974 (Kennedy 2007). Neither of them are pathogenic to their preferred natural host species in the wild, but are found to cause great damage to European eel.

Anguillicola crassus, the swimbladder parasite, is an introduced parasite in Europe. The natural range of *A. crassus* is in tropical and subtropical Asia where it is widespread in the Japanese eel (*Anguilla japonica*) in natural waters and eel farms. It causes little or no damage

to the Japanese eel but can be highly pathogenic to the European eel. The parasite came to Europe in the early 1980s with live eels from Taiwan when eels were imported for stocking and farming purposes (Mo & Steien 1994, Mo 2009). The first reports of the parasite came from Italy and the south of Germany. Later the parasite spread to other countries and was reported from Denmark in 1986 and from Sweden in 1987. The first observation from Norway came in 1993 when two dark-brown nematodes were observed in the swimbladders of eels from an eel farm in Østfold (Fig. 2). The production was based on wild caught eel from the area between Hvaler and Fredrikstad, together with imported eels from Denmark (Mo & Steien 1994). It was apparently observed for the first time in wild-caught eels, from the south of Norway, delivered to an eel farm in Farsund in 1997 (Engø 1997). After the late 1990s, when most eel farms were closed down, the parasite got little attention until it was observed in wild eels caught in several rivers in 2008. It was identified in eel from the river Imsa, the outlet area to the the river Drammenselva and the river Enningdalselva (Fig.2). The hypothesis is that the parasite has spread between Norwegian waterways by migratory eels (Mo 2009), or with the help of different mobile transport hosts (Lindholm 2012). A. crassus has not been reported further north than Stavanger, but it is believed that it has spread to Hordaland and Sogn og Fjordane (NBIC 2018a).

Pseudodactylogyrus anguillae and *P. bini* have also been introduced in Europe. They were first reported from an eel farm in the European part of the former Soviet Union where they had been introduced with imported Japanese eel. The introduction to Central Europe most likely happened at the same time as the introduction of *A. crassus* with the import of eel from Taiwan (Buchmann et al. 1987, Køie 1991). The ectoparasitic monogeneans are located on the gills, where they feed on blood, mucus and skin cells. *P. anguillae* was observed for the first time in Norway in 1987 in farmed eel (Mo et al. 1988) and became a big problem for eel farmers (Mo et al. 1988). The first observation of *P. anguille*, together with *P. bini*, in wild eel was made in 1998 in eel from Årungen lake and the river Glomma (Mo & Sterud 1998). How they were introduced to Norway is unknown. One possibility is that there were eggs present in Danish wellboats visiting the farms to collect eel. Another is by the natural migration of infected eel along the coast from Sweden (Mo et al. 1988, Mo & Sterud 1998). Today the known geographical range of *P. anguille* is Østfold, Oslo and Akershus (NBIC 2018b).

Little is known about the parasites of the European eel, especially by comparison with the extensive information available on the parasites of salmonids (Kennedy 2007). Jakob et al. (2016) summarized all published data on the parasite fauna of the European eel and found a total of 161 parasitic species/taxa recorded for European eel. Compared to other fish species in Europe, eels tend to have species poor parasite infracommunities with low parasite abundance.

Most studies of the parasite communities of European eel have been carried out in freshwater localities, and therefore even less is known about the parasite fauna of eels from salt and brackish waters (Filippi et al. 2013). With the suggestion that eels may not necessarily migrate into freshwater (Tsukamoto et al. 1998, Daverat et al. 2006, Durif et al. 2008), and that populations of eels from marine localities contribute primarily to future recruitment of eel populations (Tsukamoto et al. 1998, Mayo-Hernandez et al. 2015), studying the parasite fauna of eels from salt waters can give a better picture of the health status of eel populations.

An eel's parasite infracommunity can provide information on the eel's life strategy. If the parasite life cycles and modes of transmission to fish are known, they can be used as biological tags to provide information on hosts movements and habitats (Kennedy et al. 1992). Parasite communities of European eels strongly relate to the habitat preferences of their hosts and reflect the life history of individual eels. The parasites show very specific salinity-dependence that makes it possible to cluster the them into freshwater, brackish, and marine groups (Jakob et al. 2009, Mayo-Hernandez et al. 2015).

In Norway, knowledge on the parasite communities in European eel is very scant. In a study from 1998, with thirteen specimens of eel from south-eastern Norway, twelve different parasite species were found (Mo & Sterud 1998). Additional species have also been recorded in general parasite studies (Table 1). None of the previous studies on the parasite fauna of Norwegian eel have been carried out in marine localities, but there are scattered parasite record from eels caught in the sea (e.g. Olsson (1868)).

Parasite species	Locality, year
Trypanosoma granulosum Leveran et Mesnil, 1909	Årungen 1996 ¹ Glomma 1997 ^{1,} Jæren ⁷
Trichodina spp.	Vegsund ⁷ , Bergen ⁷ , Sunnmøre ³
Paramyxidium giardi* (Cépède, 1906)	Årungen 1996 ¹ , Glomma 1997 ¹
Pseudodactylogyrus anguillae (Yin et Sproston, 1948)	Årungen 1996 ¹ , Glomma, 1997 ¹
Pseudodactylogyrus bini (Kikuchi, 1929)	Glomma 1997 ¹
Gyrodactylus sp.	Mauseidvatn 1990 ⁷
Diplostomum sp.	Årungen, 1996 ¹
Azygia lucii (Müller, 1776)	Årungen, 1996 ¹
Deropristis inflata (Molin, 1859)	Bergen 1868 ² , Glomma 1997 ¹
<i>Helicometra</i> sp.	Bergen 1868 ²
Hemiurus communis Odhner, 1905	Bergen 1868 ²
Lecithichirium rufoviride (Rudolphi, 1819)	Bergen 1868 ² , Langesund ⁵ , Sotra ⁶
Derogenes varicus (Müller, 1784)	Bergen 1868 ²
Lecithaster gibbosus (Rudolphi, 1802)	Bergen 1868 ²
Triaenophorus nodulosus (Pallas, 1781)	Årungen 1997 ¹
Bothriocephalus sp.	Årungen 1996 ¹ , Glomma 1997 ¹
Proteocephalus macrocephalus (Creplin, 1825)	Oslofjord 1979 ⁴
Paraquimperia tenerrima (Linstow, 1878)	Kalandsvatn ⁸ , Årungen 1996 ¹ , Glomma 1997 ¹
	Oslofjoden 1993, Farsund 1997 ¹¹
Anguillicola crassus Kuwahara, Niimi et Itagaki, 1974	Imsa 2008 ⁹ , River Drammenselva 2008 ⁹
	River Enningdalelva 2008 ⁹ , River Storelva2010 ¹⁰
Camallanus lactustris (Zoega, 1776)	Årungen 1996 ¹ , Glomma, 1997 ¹
Ergasilus sieboldi Nordmann, 1832	Glomma 1997 ¹

Table 1 Parasite species recorded in European eel (Anguille anguille) in Norwegian watersbefore August 2019.

* Most likely *Paramyxidium branchialis* since recorded from the gills. ¹ Mo and Sterud (1998), ² Olsson 1868, ³ Karlsbakk in Sterud (1999), ⁴ Andersen (1979), ⁵ Gibson and Bray (1986), ⁶ Lönnberg (1890), ⁷ Karlsbakk (pers.comm), ⁸ B. Berland (pers. comm. Karlsbakk), ⁹ Mo (2009), ¹⁰ Lindholm (2012), ¹¹ Engø (1997).

1.6 Aim

The main aim of the present study is to get insight into the movement of eels between fresh and seawater using parasites as biological indicators. There are several sub goals:

- i) Provide background data on the occurrence of eel parasites in Norway
- ii) Examine the spread of the exotic eel parasites *A. crassus* and *Pseudodactylogyrus* spp.
- iii) Revealing suitable indicator parasites of habitat shifting.
- iv) Compare parasite evidence for habitat-shifting with that from stable isotope and fatty acid data.

2 Material and method

2.1 Sampling

The European eels (Table 2), Anguilla anguilla, were caught at seven different localities in

Norway (58.3°-63.8°N) (Fig. 2); Landvikvannet (August 2018, N=30) and Inner Grosfjord (August 2018, N=17) in Grimstad, Littledalsvatnet (July 2019, N=45) and Etnefjord (July 2019, N=31) in Etne, the river Botngårdelva in Bjugn (August 2019, N=30), the Edøyfjord in the vicinity of the island Smøla (November 2019, N=30) and a couple of lakes in the Orkla river drainage system (September 2018, N=3). Hereafter the localities will be referred to by place name and habitat (Grimstad FW, Grimstad SW, Etne FW, Etne SW, Bjugn FW, Smøla SW, and Orkla FW).

The captured eels were killed using an overdose of anaesthetics

(Eugenol/MS222) or with electricity. All fish from Etne FW and Etne SW were



Figure 2 European eel sampling localities along the Norwegian coast (58.3°-63.8°N). Yellow marker=seawater localities, red marker= freshwater localities

measured (mm), weighed (g) and taken samples from at the locality before they were put into individual plastic bags and frozen (-20 °C). Just after terminal anaesthesia, a gill (1st left) was removed from all the Etne eels. A squash preparation was examined in a compound microscope (100-400x) for protists, myxosporeans and monogeneans. Gill samples from all Etne eels were preserved in ethanol (suitable for DNA extraction) or fixed in a modified Karnovsky fixative (phosphate buffered; Steigen et al. (2015)) for histology. Muscle and liver tissue samples together with both eyes were taken from the Etne eels for fatty acid analysis which were carried out by Camilla Parzanini (Ryerson University, Canada), for another part of the MAREEL project (funded by the Norwegian Research Council NFR project# 280658 and the Institute of Marine Research). Fish from Bjugn FW and Smøla SW were put straight into individual plastic bags before they were frozen (-18 °C). The eels from Grimstad FW and Grimstad SW were received deep-frozen in blocks and were separated into individual plastic bags after minimal defrosting in the lab, before being re-frozen until examination. Sediments from the water used for defrosting were examined for any detached ectoparasites (e.g. *Argulus* spp., leeches).

Locality	n	Length(mm)			Weight (g)				
Locanty	n _	Mean	SD	Min	Max	Mean	SD	Min	Max
Grimstad FW	30	531	67	400	647	255	90	124	423
Grimstad SW	17	527	65	420	647	237	110	117	520
Etne FW	45	518	102	370	840	257	201	78	1150
Etne SW	31	497	107	380	512	239	114	80	512
Bjugn FW	30	334	59	204	452	68	30	14	137
Smøla SW	30	527	72	405	704	326	153	140	712
Orkla FW	3	726	323	357	960	1093	913	98	1891

Table 2 Overview of total length and weight of the examined eels. Min=Minimum,

 Max=Maximum, SD=Standard deviation

2.2 Localities

2.2.1 Landvikvannet ('Grimstad FW')

Landvikvannet (58.332997°N, 8.518651°E) is located on the Norwegian Skagerrak coast (Fig. 3). It is a 1.85 km² lake that is artificially connected via a 3 km long, 1-4 m deep canal to the adjacent fjord, the Strand fjord. Apart from a small 25 m deep basin located at the entrance of the lake, the depth is between 7-10 m. Streams around Landvikvannet add fresh water into the

lake, and there is an inflow of saltwater during the tidal cycle, resulting in a stratified water column with a transition depth at 4 m. The upper layer has low salinity, and oxygen content above 5 ml/l as opposed to the lower layer that has moderate salinity (> 20 %), low and constant temperature (~8°C), and is anoxic and toxic due to hydrogensulphide (Eggers et al. 2014, Berg 2018).

Landvikvannet hosts several different fish species, both marine, and freshwater. The dominant species is rudd (*Scardinius erythrophthalmus*). Other species are brown/sea trout (*Salmo trutta*), herring (*Clupea harengus*), sprat (*Sprattus sprattus*) and eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) (Berg 2018). There are also sticklebacks (*Gasterosteus aculeatus*, *Pungitius pungitius*) inhabiting the water (Haraldstad et al. 2013).



The eels were caught using fyke nets at 3-8 m depth.

Figure 3 Sampling localities in the Grimstad area, Landvikvannet (red marker) and the Inner Grosfjord (yellow marker). (Obtained from Kommunekart.no)

2.2.2 The Inner Grosfjord ('Grimstad SW')

Inner Grosfjord (58.3334°N, 8.6074°E) is located on the Norwegian Skagerrak coast, in Agder county (Fig. 3). The water in the fjord is polyhaline (16-30 ‰) and low on oxygen (Vann-nett.no). The eels were caught using fyke nets at 3-8 m depth.

2.2.3 Litledalsvatnet ('Etne FW')

Litledalsvatnet, a 0.949 km² freshwater lake, is located on the Norwegian west-coast in the municipality Etne (Fig. 4). The lake hosts several different species, brown trout, Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*), threespine sticlebacks (*Gasterosteus aculeatus*) and European eel. The lake is connected with the Etnefjord by the river Etneelva. The eels were caught using fyke nets placed at 0.4-1.5 m depth that had been in the water for two-three days. To kill the fish, they were put in a barrel and given an overdose of anaesthesia (Eugenol).



Figure 4 Freshwater sampling locality in Etne, Litledalsvatnet (red). (Obtained from Kommunekart.no)

2.2.4 The Etnefjord ('Etne SW')

The Etnefjord (8.3 km long), an arm of the fjords Ølsfjord and Hardangerfjord, is located on the border between Vestland and Rogaland counties in Norway. The fjord is 8.3 km long and divides into two branches, with Osvågen that branches off into the southeast and the Etnefjord continuing northeast to Etne. The Etnefjord is categorised as euhalin (> 30 ‰) (Vann-nett.no). The eels representing Etne SW were caught in two areas of the fjord, A and B (Fig. 5). Area A is between the river mouth of the river Etneelva and Fjørsnaneset (59.67446°N, 5.92127°E). The fyke nets and eel pots were placed at 1-2 m depth with sandy bottom, seaweed and eelgrass. Area B contains the bay within Melandsholmen (59.64372°N, 5.88671°E). The fyke nets and here eel pots were here placed on a sandy bottom with eelgrass. The fish traps were in the water for two-three days.



Figure 5 Marine sampling localities in Etnefjorden, Areas A and B (black shaded). (Obtained from Kommunekart.no)

2.2.5 The river Botngårdelva ('Bjugn')

The river Botngårdselva is located in Bjugn municipality in Trøndelag county (Fig. 6). The river is a part of the Botngård drainage system and connects it with the Bjugn fjord. The Fish fauna in The Botngård drainage area is dominated by salmonid fish species, but eel and introduced pike are also present (Bergan 2016). The fish were caught with electrofishing 100-200 m from the river mouth.



Figure 6 Sampling locality in the river Botngårdelva (red) in Bjugn municipality. (Obtained from Kommunekart.no)

2.2.6 Smøla ('Smøla')

The eels from the 'Smøla' sample were caught in three areas in Edøyfjoden near Smøla in Trøndelag county. Sampling was done during a survey for Atlantic cod juveniles at Smøla and Aure (by Terje van der Meeren, IMR). The localities were in the area around Lauvøysvaet (63.31244°N, 8.16862°E), Åkvika (63.33444°N, 8.43911°E) and Araneset (63.26796°N, 8.32712°E) (Fig. 7). All these areas are categorised as Euhaline (> 30 ‰) (Vann-nett.no). The eels were caught using fyke nets at 2-8 m depth over a time period of three weeks. The fyke nets were checked every second day and the captured eels were kept in nets in the sea until they were killed with an overdose of anaesthesia (MS222), put in individual plastic bags and deep-frozen.



Figure 7 Sampling localities in the area near the island Smøla, Lauvøysvaet (A), Åkvika (B) and Araneset (C). (Obtained from Kommunekart.no)

2.2.7 Orkla River drainage area ('Orkla')

The three eels from two small lakes (Ålvatnet (63.29940°N, 9.78992°E), Brandåstjønna (63.24553°N, 9.65813°E)) connected to the river Sika and the river Skjenaldselva in the Orkla River drainage system (Fig. 8), were killed during a rotenone treatment performed there in

September 2018, in order to eradicate the introduced pike (*Esox lucius*) (Bardal et al. 2019). These eels were included in the study only to extend the knowledge on the geographic range of the eel parasites in Norway, and did not constitute a sample equal to the others.



Figure 8 Sampling localities in the Orkla River drainage system, Brandåstjønna (A) and Ålvatnet (B).

2.3 Dissection and parasite examination

A total of 171 eels caught at the seven different localities were dissected and examined for parasites. The general examination included the external surface of the fish, fins, gills, eyes and all internal organs. However, since the eyes of all eels from Etne were used in fatty acid analysis, 15 additional freshwater-caught eels from Etne were examined solely for eye parasites. The dissections took place at the parasitology laboratory at The University of Bergen (UiB).

The eels were thawed in cold water, usually for c. 30 minutes. The total length and weight were then recorded. In accordance with Durif et al. (2009a), eye diameter, and pectoral fin length were also registered, providing a staging for the eels. During the dissection, the sex of the fish was determined by gonad inspection (Tesch 2003). Any prey present in the stomach was recorded, and during the examination of the head (below) the otoliths were taken out. These were sent to The Institute of Marine research (IMR) for microchemical analyses.

The external surfaces were then examined for abnormalities such as lesions. The plastic bag was also examined for potentially detached ectoparasites. During the external examination, the eels were examined for skin and fin cysts or black spots due to endoparasites such as myxosporea or trematode metacercariae. The head was then separated from the body and placed in a glass Petri dish with seawater diluted to about physiological salinity (~10 ‰, henceforth referred to as 'saline') and stored cold (see below), because the digestive tract was necessarily examined first.

The abdomen was cut open from the pericardial cavity to the anus with the use of scissors. All internal organs: heart, liver, gallbladder, spleen, alimentary tract and swim bladder, were removed and placed in separate glass Petri dishes with saline. A urine sample was taken from the urinary bladder and examined microscopically for spores. Gall from the gallbladder was transferred to a 1.5 ml plastic microtube for spore sedimentation of any spores present and later examined microscopically. A squash preparation was made with a piece from the posterior part of the kidney and examined in the microscope for plasmodia and spores (e.g. myxosporea). Occasionally white spots were observed in the kidney, that were also examined further. All these wet and squash preparations (urine, gall, and kidney) were examined in a compound microscope (Olympus cx 41) at 100x, 400x and 1000x magnification for spore producing protists or myxosporea. The other organs were examined macroscopically externally, and any parasites seen were removed, before the organs were flattened between to glass Petri dishes and candled using a dissecting microscope (Wild Herrbrugg) with under lights.

The alimentary tract was divided into the esophagus/stomach and intestine, with the intestine being further split into an anterior, a posterior and an anal part. The parts were split longitudinally and any prey or big parasites were removed and placed in separate containers. The mucosa was then scraped out with a scalpel and candled, before the wall of the gut was examined in the same way. A small selection of fish from each freshwater locality were examined for the coccidian *Epieimeria anguillae* (Léger et Hollande, 1922), by microscopy on squash preparations from the epithelium from the anterior intestine for oocysts and sporocysts. The swimbladder was examined macroscopically for the presence of *Anguillicola crassus* in the lumen. The heart, liver, spleen, gonad and the rest of the swimbladder was then squashed between two Petri dishes and candled for parasites. Finally, the visceral cavity was inspected.

From the head-part of the body, the eyes were cut out and placed in saline. They were examined in the dissecting microscope by opening the eye and examining the lens, vitreous humour and retina. The gills were taken out and examined separately for helminth parasites such as monogeneans and nematodes (e.g. *Pseudodactylogyrus* spp. and *Daniconema anguillae* Moravec et Køie 1987) using a dissecting microscope. To examine the gills for myxosporeans, about 20 filaments were cut off from the first gill on the left side and examined in the microscope (100-400x). As a measurement of intensity, the proportion of infected filaments was estimated. When the occurrence of the tissue nematode *Daniconema anguillae* was discovered in the gills, and large numbers of larvae subsequently seen in the pectoral fin, a density estimate was taken. In the pectoral fin, the typical number of visible nematodes in a field of view with 40x magnification (18.85 mm²) was registered.

All the parasites found were, as a standard, counted, roughly measured, washed and examined more closely in the microscope, and identified if possible. Digital photos were taken for documentation, and as an aid in identification. The gender and maturity were determined and registered on certain parasites. Maturity of platyhelminths was determined on the basis of whether or not the specimen contained eggs (were oviferous), with egg containing specimens registered as mature. Pictures were taken of all parasite types and most individuals, but not of all individual of common types. The myxosporean parasites were registered as present and with the number of plasmodia containing spores if possible. Helminth parasites and tissue

samples containing microparasites (e.g. urinary bladder and intestinal wall) were preserved in ethanol (96-100 %).

Also, small pieces of the stomach wall, posterior kidney, and lamellae from the first left gill were taken and stored in ethanol as a standard, allowing for PCR analyses later.

2.4 Extraction and purification of nucleic acids

To extract and purify nucleic acids from tissue samples and parasites the E.Z.N.A.® Tissue DNA Kit (Omega Bio-Tek) was used. The sample was removed from ethanol and dried using a heating block (55°C). Then 200 µl of digestion buffer (TL) and 25µl of proteinase K solution were added. This was mixed, spun down and incubated at 55°C overnight, except for the platyhelminth parasites that were incubated for only two hours. After the proteinase K treatment, the sample was centrifuged (13,000 x g; 5 min). The supernatant was then transferred to a sterile 1.5 ml micro-tube and 220 µl of BL Buffer was added. The sample was mixed and incubated at 70°C for 10 minutes. Then, the sample was spun down and 220 μ l of absolute ethanol was added to the sample and mixed by pipetting up and down. The entire sample was then transferred into a HiBind DNA Mini Column with a collection tube. To bind the DNA, the sample was centrifuged (10,000 x g; 1 min). The HiBind DNA Mini Column was then placed in a new collection tube and 500 µl of the first wash buffer (HB/HBC) (diluted with isopropanol) was added to the column. The sample was centrifuged (10,000 x g; 30 sec). The HiBind DNA Mini Column was then placed in a new collection tube and 700 µl of DNA Wash Buffer (diluted with absolute ethanol) was added and the sample was centrifuged (10,000 x g; 30 sec). This step was then repeated for a second DNA Wash Buffer step. The empty HiBind DNA Mini Column was then centrifuged at maximum speed for two minutes to remove traces of ethanol. To elute the DNA from the column the HiBind DNA Mini Column was placed in a sterile microtube and 50-200 µl of preheated (70°C) Elution Buffer was added. After about two minutes, the sample was centrifuged (13,000 x g; 1 min). The isolated DNA was eluted from the column with the Elution Buffer.

The concentration (ng/µl) of DNA in the samples was measured using a UV spectrophotometer (*Nanodrop*[®] *ND-1000*). The instrument baseline was set using the Elution Buffer. The DNA was stored at -30°C.

2.5 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is a method used to amplify a specific DNA region *in vitro*. In this study, PCR was performed on DNA from a selection of parasites, in order to identify them, verify identity or provide reference sequences. The target gene amplified varied with parasite groups, Small Sub-Unit RNA gene (SSU rDNA or 18S), Large Sub-Unit RNA gene (LSU rDNA or 28S) and the internal transcribed spacer DNA region (ITS1-5.8s-ITS2) were used.

PCR requires a thermostable DNA polymerase enzyme, template DNA, primers and nucleotides in a suitable buffer. A mastermix containing 10 μ l GoTaq[®]G2 Colorless Master Mix (GoTaq[®]G2 DNA Polymerase, dNTPs, MgCl₂, reaction buffers), 500 μ M forward and 500 μ M reverse primer and 7 μ l nuclease-free water per sample was prepared (Table 3). 19 μ l of the mastermix together with 1 μ l of the isolated DNA was added to sterile 0.2 ml PCR-tubes. Primers used are listed in Table 4.

Reagent	Volume (µl) for 1 rxn	Final concentration
GoTaq®G2 Colorless Master Mix	10	X 1
Forward primer	1	500 μM
Reverse primer	1	500 μM
DNA template	1	Variable
Nuclease-free water	7	-
Total reaction volume	20	

 Table 3 PCR set up - mastermix

The samples were put in a thermocycler (*Veriti*[™] 96-Well Thermal Cycler-Applied Biosystems) for the PCR. The following thermo profile was used: two minutes of denaturation at 95°C, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 55 or 56°C for 30 seconds and one minute of extension at 72°C. At the end, there was a final extension for five minutes at 72°C (Fig. 9). The temperature used in the annealing step of the PCR depended on the Tm for the primers used.



Figure 9 Illustration of the PCR thermoprofile. Stage 1: Two minutes of denaturation at 95°C. Stage 2: 30 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 55 or 56°C for 30 seconds and one minute of extension at 72°C. Stage 3: Final extension for 30 seconds.

Table 4 Primers used in the PCRs in order to amplify various types of rDNA of some parasites.

Primer name Primer sequence (5'-3')		Target DNA	Target parasite	Ref.
Myxgp2F	WTGGATAACCGTGGGAAA	18S	Myxosporea	Kent et al. (1998)
Ech-R1	CATGCACCACCATACACCG	18S	Myxosporea, Paramyxidium	EK
Ech-R3	CGGGATAAGCCTGACAGATCA	18S	Myxosporea, Paramyxidium	EK
MyEel-R1-RW	AACCGCTCCTCTTAATCATCA	18S	Myxosporea, Myxobolus	EK
MyEel-R2-RW	ACACGATTGTTCGTTCCATG	18S	Myxosporea, Myxobolus	EK
MyxospecF	TTCTGCCCTATCAACTWGTTG	18S	Myxosporea general	Fiala (2006)
ZEel-R3	GCACATTGTATAGCTTGCAC	18S	Myxosporea, Zschokkella	EK
Py28S F1	ATAGCCCAGCACCGAAGC	28S	Cestoda	EK
Ces28S R1	CTCTGGCTTCAACCTACG	28S	Cestoda	EK
L300F	CAAGTACCGTGAGGGAAAGTTG	288	Trematoda	Littlewood et al. (2000)
28SR3	TCTGGCTTCAACCTACGCAAG	28S	Trematoda	EK
NC5F	GTAGGTGAACCTGCGGAAGGATCATT	ITS	Nematoda	(Zhu et al. 1998)
ANIR1	CAGTGRYCGATGGATTCA	ITS	Nematoda	EK

18S – Small Sub-Unit RNA gene (SSU rDNA), 28S – Large Sub-Unit RNA gene (LSU rDNA), ITS – internal transcribed spacer DNA region (ITS1-5.8s-ITS2), EK – Egil Karlsbakk (unpublished).

Positive controls were included in the PCR analyses when possible (Table 5). These had been fixed fresh, so DNA quality should be good. This was done to account for potential poor DNA quality in the frozen and thawed parasites.

Agens		Host	Locality	Date			
Myxobolus species							
	Myxobolus neurobius	Salmo trutta	Byglandsfjord, Agder	11.12.13			
Bothriocepha	lidean cestode						
	Dibothriocephalus ditremu	us Gasterosteus aculeatus	Lake Gjønavatn, Hordaland	21.08.05			
Tetraphyllide	an cestode						
	Trilocularia gracilis	Phrynorhombus norvegicus	Raunefjord, Hordaland	20.10.03			
Trematoda							
	Steringophorus furciger	Platichthys flesus	Lyngen, Troms	20.05.03			
Nematoda							
	Contracaecum sp.	Phalacrocorax carbo	Masfjord	07.05.98			

Table 5 Positive controls used in some of the PCR analyse	es.
---	-----

All controls collected and provided by Egil Karlsbakk.

2.6 Gel electrophoresis

Gel electrophoresis was used visualize that the DNA template in the PCR was detected by the primers. A 1 % agarose gel dissolved in 1X TAE-Buffer with 1 μ l GelredTM was used. The gel was submerged in 1X TAE-buffer and the wells were loaded with 5 μ l PCR product mixed with 1 μ l loading dye. 3 μ l Quick-load[®] purple 2-log DNA ladder (New England Biolabs) was applied to at least one well to estimate the molecular weight of the PCR products. The gel was connected to a power source (80V) for 60 minutes. The bands on the gel were visualized using UV-light (Gel Logic 212PRO, Fisher Scientific) and the program Carestream MI.
2.7 Sequencing and Analyses

PCR-products with proven content of DNA, seen as bands on the gel, were purified using ExoSAP-IT[®] before sequencing. A mix of 1 µl of ExoSAP-IT[®] and 2.5 µl of PCR-product was placed in the thermocycler and the standard "Exosap" program was run, 37°C for 15 minutes, then 80°C for 15 minutes. Primers and nucleotides left from the PCR were broken down in this process. The treated samples were used as the template in the sequencing reaction. Template (1 µl) was added to two PCR-tubes together with 1 µl BigDye[®] (version 3.1), 1 µl sequencing buffer and 6.5 µl nuclease-free water. Then 0.5 µl of forward primer was added to one of the PCR-tubes and 0.5 µl reverse primer to the other. The cycle sequencing was performed using the following thermoprofile: denaturation at 96°C for 5 minutes, then 25 cycles of denaturation at 96°C for 10 seconds, annealing at 50°C for 5 seconds and extension at 60°C for 4 minutes. Afterwards, 10µl of nuclease-free water was added to the samples and they were delivered to the sequencing laboratory at UiB for processing. Contigs were assembled using Contig Express, part of the Vector NTI (v 9.0) suite. Sequence searches were done with BLAST (Basic Local Alignment Search Tool) in NCBI (National Center for Biotechnology Information) to find similar sequences that could aid identifying the parasites.

2.8 Histology

Histology was used to clarify the exact location of infection foci with the myxosporean *Myxobolus* sp. within the intestinal wall. Tissue samples containing the parasite were taken from the defrosted eels during dissection, and fixed in buffered formalin (10%). The gut pieces were processed at the histology lab at IMR, where they were and embedded in paraffin wax, and sectioned following standard protocol (Bøgwald 2019). The sections were hematoxylin-erythrosin-saffron (HES) stained.

2.9 Fatty acid analysis

Fatty acids (FA) were extracted by Camilla Parzanini (Ryserson University) following a modified Folch method (Folch et al. 1957) in a chloroform:methanol (2:1) solution, and analysed as methyl esters (FAME) using gas chromatography (GC). Finally, following the

formula provided by Parzanini et al. (Accepted), the marine to freshwater ratio (M/F) was calculated for the identification of M *vs* F eel.

$$M/F = (20:1n-9 + 22:1n-11 + 20:5n-3 + 22:6n-3) / (18:2n-6 + 18:3n-3 + 20:4n-6)$$

Elements of the numerator are FA that are typically found in high proportions in marine fishes, such as eicosenoic (20:1n-9), cetoleic (22:1n-11), eicosapentaenoic (20:5n-3), and docosaexahenoic (22:6n-3) acids. Conversely, the FA included in the denominator, i.e. linoleic (18:2n-6), linolenic (18:3n-3), and arachidonic (20:4n-6) acids, are generally abundant freshwater fishes (Parzanini et al. Accepted).

Based on the M/F ratio, the eels were categorized into groups with either freshwater (FW), brackish water (BW), intermediate (SW/BW) or seawater signatures (SW).

2.10 Otolith microchemistry analyses

The otolith microchemistry analyses were carried out by Mehis Rohtla (IMR). The sagittal otoliths were prepared in transversal plane until the core was exposed. For trace element analysis, continuous core-to-edge transects were traced using Cetac LSX213 laser coupled with Agilent $8,800 \times$ ICPMS. The laser was set to 10 Hz, with a 40 µm ablation spot size, and a scan speed of 5 µm/s. Data were handled following the methods of Miller (2007) as described in Rohtla et al. (2014). Briefly, raw counts were converted to element-to-calcium molar ratios using the NIST-612 standard that was analysed before and after every 10 otoliths. The eels were categorised as either freshwater residents (FWR), marine water residents (MWR) or inter-habitat shifters (IHS).

2.11 Statistics and diversity indices

The relationship between eel size (length) and parasite (helminth) abundance was examined using Spearman's Rank correlation coefficients (r_s). Generally, only significant results from meaningful analyses (prevalence >~10 %) are reported.

3 Results

3.1 Parasites detected

The 171 female eels (N (FW)=93, N (SW)=78) from seven different salinity habitats along the Norwegian coast (58.3 °N- 63.8 °N) were in all infected with 34 different parasite species (Table 6), 11 found only in freshwater, 15 only in seawater and eight in eels from both habitats. The parasites represented one coccidian, six myxosporeans, one monogenean, nine trematodes, five cestodes, one acanthocephalan and eleven nematode species.

3.1.1 Protists

Epieimeria anguillae (Léger et Hollande, 1922)

Coccidian oocysts and sporocysts were observed during microscopy on mucus from the intestine of two eels from Grimstad FW (Table 6). A few fish from the other localities examined were negative, but coccidia was not targeted in this study.

The coccidian was identified with *Epierimeria anguillae* according to the descriptions provided by Léger and Hollande (1922) and Lacey and Williams (1983). Oocysts (Fig. 10A,B) measured 10.8-12.1 (mean 11.4) μ m in diameter (N=14), while the sporocysts (Fig. 10C) were 8.1-8.9 (8.5) μ m long and 4.5-5.1 (4.8) μ m thick (N=15). The sporocysts were oval according to the side view but hexagonal in transverse section.



Figure 10 *Epieimeria anguillae* from freshwater-caught eel, Grimstad. All to same scale. **A**, **B** oocyst with visible sporocysts, **C** four sporocysts.

Table 6 Overview over the parasite species recorded in European eels caught in Norwegian waters dissected in the present study.

Locality:	Grimstad FW	Grimstad SW	Etne FW	Etne SW	Bjugn FW	Smøla SW
No. examined:	30 ^b	17°	30 (+15) ^d	31	30	30
Length range (mm):	400-647	420-647	370-840	380-512	204-452	405-704
Weight range (g):	124-423	117-520	78-1150	80-512	14-137	140-712
Parasite species:	Abundance Int.	Abundance Int.	Abundance Int.	Abundance Int.	Abundance Int.	Abundance Int.
	N P Mean SD Max	N P Mean SD Max	N P Mean SD Max	N P Mean SD Max	N P Mean SD Max	N P Mean SD Max
	<u>int (%)</u>	<u>inf (%)</u>	inf (%)	<u>int (%)</u>	<u>inf (%)</u>	inf (%)
Frieimeria anguillae ^a	+					
Myxosporea			-		-	
Paramvxidium branchialis	11 37	7 41	11 37	11 35	2. 7	9 30
Paramyxidium magi		$ \begin{array}{c} $	$\begin{array}{c} 0 \\ 0 \end{array}$		$\overline{0}$ $\overline{0}$	1 3
Paramyxidium giardi	1 4	0 0	10 33	1 3	11 37	0 0
Hoferellus gilsoni	1 4	0 0	5 17	0 0	20 67	0 0
Zschokkella stettinensis	0 0	0 0	10 33	0 0	21 70	0 0
Myxobolus sp.	9 30	0 0	6 20	3 10	4 13	0 0
Platyhelminthes						
Monogenea						
Pseudodactylogyrus anguillae	24 80 13.8 19.4 90	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0
Trematoda						
Deropristis inflata	0 0 0	7 41 2.6 4.6 15	0 0 0	18 58 8.5 13 49	0 0 0	12 40 5.8 17.3 84
Podocotyle atomon	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	6 19 3.1 11.9 65	2 7 0.3 1.2 5	0 0 0
Helicometra fasciata	0 0 0	5 29 2.2 4.7 16	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0
Hemiurus communis	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	22 71 69.0 77.8 255	0 0 0	29 97 35.6 54.9 248
Brachyphallus crenatus	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	1 3 0.03 0.2 1	0 0 0	0 0 0
Lecithochirium rufoviride	0 0 0	13 76 21.2 29.9 83	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	27 90 31.3 36.1 152
Derogenes varicus	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	1 3 0.03 0.2 1	0 0 0	7 23 0,5 1.2 5
Lecithaster gibbosus	0 0 0	0 0 0		2 6 0.1 0.4 2	0 0 0	1 3 0.03 0.2 1
Diplostomum sp. (M)	0 0 0	0 0 0	1 / 0.13 2		0 0 0	0 0 0
Cestoda		0 0 0		0 0 0		2 7 0.07 0.25 1
Scolex pleuronectis (P)						
Proteocephatus macrocephatus			1 3 0.03 0.2 1			
Dibothriocophalus claviceps			0 20 0.4 1 4 2 7 0 2 0 0 5			
Diboinriocephaius auremus (r) Pothriocophalidea gap sp (P)				$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		
Δ canthocenhala	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	4 15 2.5 / 2/	0 0 0	0 0 0
Fehinorhynchus gadi	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	3 10 15 40	0 0 0	2 7 01 04 2
Nematoda	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	5 10 1.5 10	0 0 0	2 / 0.1 0.1 2
Pseudocapillaria tomentosa	1 3 0.03 0.18 1	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0
Eustrongvlides sp. (L)	0 0 0	0 0 0	8 27 0.4 0.8 2	0 0 0	3 10 0.2 0.5 2	0 0 0
Daniconema anguillae (L)	8 40	0 0	1 3	0 0	0 0	0 0
Paraquimperia tenerrima	0 0 0	0 0 0	22 73 5.5 7.7 35	0 0 0	5 17 0.3 0.8 3	0 0 0
Paracuaria adunca (L)	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	3 10 4.6 18 91	0 0 0	0 0 0
Cucullanellus minutus	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	1 3 0.03 0.2 1	0 0 0	0 0 0
Hysterothylacium aduncum	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	5 16 0.2 0.4 1	0 0 0	11 37 1.3 2.7 13
Anisakis simplex (L)	2 7 0.07 0.25 1	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	2 7 0.1 0.4 2
Contracaecum spp. (L)	11 37 2.6 7.51 39	4 24 0.5 1.1 4	2 7 0.07 0.3 1	8 26 2.0 5.2 23	0 0 0	1 3 1.7 9.1 50
Anguillicola crassus	23 77 2.0 2.25 10	1 6 0.1 0.5 2	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0

M – metacercariae, P – plerocercoids, L – larvae, N inf – number infected, P – prevalence (%), SD – standard deviation, Int – intensity. ^a Not systematically screened for, ^b N=24 examined for *P. giardi*, N=26 examined for *H. gilsoni* and *Z. stettinensis*, N=20 examined for *D. anguillae*, ^c N=7 examined for *D. anguillae*, ^d 15 additional eels were only examined for the presence of *Diplostomum* sp.

3.1.2 Myxosporea

Paramyxidium branchialis Freeman et Kristmundsson, 2018

Infections with this myxosporean were detected microscopically in eels from all localities except those from the Orkla area (Table 6). Plasmodia with spores were round to oval, and measured 38-173 x 34-115 μ m (N=20) (Fig. 11A,B). Spores (Fig. 11D,E) (N=20) measured 10.7 (9.7-12.0) μ m in length and 6.5 (5.7-7.1) μ m in width, with polar capsules 3.7 (3.4-4.3) μ m long and 3.4 (3.1-4.0) μ m in diameter and polar filaments in 5-6 coils.

Across samples, the prevalence of *P. branchialis* in freshwater-caught eels was 26 %, while 35 % of the saltwater-caught eels were infected. Overall prevalence was 30 %. There were up to 0.87 plasmodia per primary lamella, but average density was 0.15 lamella⁻¹. Two partial SSU rDNA sequences (Orkla and Etne SW) had >99 % similarity (1242 nt compared) with the *P. branchiale* sequence in the GenBank (MH414926).



Figure 11 *Paramyxidium branchialis* infections. **A** Plasmodium observed as dark spots in gill lamella from freshwater-caught eel, Grimstad, **B** Plasmodium in gill lamella from freshwater-caught eel, Bjugn, **C** Plasmodium with visible spores from a fresh squash preparation from freshwater-caught eel, Etne, **D** Plasmodium with visible spores from a seawater-caught eel, Smøla.

Paramyxidium magi Freeman et Kristmundsson, 2018

Only one seawater-caught eel from the Smøla area had a *P. magi* infection (Table 6). The parasite formed polysporous plasmodia (reaching 200-300 μ m in diameter) in the submucosa of the stomach wall. Mature spores (N=21) measured 9.0 (8.4-9.5) μ m in length and 5.8 (5.6-6.1) μ m in width (Fig. 12). The polar capsule diameter was 2.9 (2.5-3.2) μ m. *P. magi* was also detected on the basis of sequences (490-560 nt) obtained from kidney samples, in an eel from Grimstad and one from the Orkla area. Identification was based on SSU rDNA sequence identity (99-100 %), in comparison with *P. magi* in GenBank (MH414922).



Figure 12 *Paramyxidium* cf. *magi* spores from a plasmodium in the stomach wall of a seawater-caught eel, Smøla.

Paramyxidium giardi (Cépède, 1906)

Infections with this myxosporean were seen in the kidneys of freshwater eels from Grimstad, Etne and Bjugn, and in a single seawater-caught eel from Etne (Table 6). The intact large plasmodia were occasionally seen macroscopically as white spots (0.9-1.4 mm) on the kidneys (Fig. 13A), throughout the posterior half. Spores (Fig. 13B) were observed as aggregates (destroyed plasmodia) in squash preparations of kidney tissue or free. They measured (N=26) 10.7 (9.9-12.2) μ m in length and 5.8 (5.3-6.7) μ m in width, with polar capsules 3.7 (2.9-4.4) μ m long and 3.3 (2.8-3.6) μ m in diameter and polar filaments in 5-7 coils.

Overall, the prevalence was 25 % in freshwater-caught eels and 1 % in the saltwater caught, 13 % overall. The parasite was molecularly identified from two infected eels (Grimstad SW, Etne SW), the SSU rDNA sequence obtained showed 100 % identity (>1240 bp compared) with *P. giardi* in GenBank (MH414925).



Figure 13 *Paramyxidium giardi* in the kidneys of a freshwater-caught eel, Etne. **A** Intact large plasmodium seen as a white spot on the kidneys, **B** *P. giardi* spores from the plasmodium on picture A.

Hoferellus gilsoni (Debaiseux, 1925)

This parasite was found infecting urinary bladders in fish from Grimstad FW, Etne FW and Bjugn FW. Both free spores and plasmodia were observed. About 29 % of all the examined freshwater eels were infected, with an infection rate of 4 % in Grimstad FW as the lowest and 67 % as the highest in Bjugn FW (Table 6). None of the saltwater caught eels were infected. The myxosporean was identified with *Hoferellus gilsoni* (syn. *Sphaerospora anguillae*) following the description by Wierzbicka (1986) and Lom et al. (1986). Spores developed in diasporic pansporoblasts, in round to elongated polysporic plasmodia (Fig.14A,B) measuring from 29 µm in diameter to 81 µm in length and 45 µm in width. The spores (Fig.14C,D) measured 6.5 (6.1-7.1) µm in length and x 6.2 (5.8-7.1) µm in width, with polar capsules measuring 3.7 (3.0-4.4) µm in length and 2.2 (1.7-2.7) µm in diameter (N=25 spores; 5 eels).

A reference *H. gilsoni* sequence (1210 nt) was obtained from a kidney sample from a Bjugn eel. Identity with the *H. gilsoni* sequence in GenBank (AJ582062; Scottish eel) was 99.8%.



Figure 14 *Hoferellus gilsoni* observed in the urine from freshwater-caught eel. **A** Plasmodium with four *H. gilsoni* spores, **B** Plasmodium with several spores, **C** Two spores sticking together with their posterior parts, **D** Two spores sticking together with their posterior parts

Zschokkella stettinensis Wierzbicka, 1987

A myxosporean morphologically similar to *Zschokkella stettinensis* described from eel in Poland (Wierzbicka 1987), were observed in freshwater eels from Etne and Bjugn. The spores developed in polysporic plasmodia (Fig. 15D) in the urinary bladder. The plasmodia measured from 29 μ m in diameter to 149 x 74 μ m, and were observed to contain from 2-15 spores. The spores (Fig. 15A,B,C) measured 9.8 (8.4-11.3) x 6.6 (5.3-8.4) μ m, and the polar capsules 3.3 (2.6-4.3) in length and 2.8 (2.3-3.6) μ m in diameter (N=22 spores; 8 eels). Partial SSU rDNA sequences of the myxosporean (829-1001 nt) were obtained from eels from both localities. These were similar (99.2 % identity) to a *Zschokkella* sp. sequence (AJ581918) from Scottish eel, and to the sequence of the actinosporean *Neoactinomyxon eiseniellae* (AJ582007) (100 %) infecting an aquatic oligochaete.

About 35 % of all examined freshwater-caught eels were infected. The prevalence was highest in Bjugn FW with 70 %, with a prevalence of 33 % in Etne FW (Table 6).



Figure 15 *Zschokkella stettinensis* recorded in urinary samples from freshwater-caught eels, Etne. **A** mature spore, **B** spores with visible striae running along the spore, **C** nearly mature spores, **D** Plasmodium with several spores.

Myxobolus sp.

Brown spots observed in the wall of the posterior and anal part of the intestine was found to represent *Myxobolus* sp. plasmodia packed with mature spores, or spore aggregates among brown-pigmented cells. However, yellowish brown spots in the stomach wall rarely contained *Myxobolus* sp. spores. This Myxosporean was observed in freshwater eels from Grimstad, Etne and Bjugn, with an overall prevalence of 20 %. The parasite was rare in seawater-caught

eels, occurring in 3 fish from the Etne area only (prevalence 4 % in the saltwater caught eels) (Table 6).

Histology revealed that the spore patches were located to the submucosal connective tissue (Fig. 16).



Figure 16 *Myxobolus* sp. aggregate in the submucosa of the intestinal wall from a seawatercaught eel, Etne. **A** Aggregate (red circle) seen in the submucosa, M - smooth muscle, **B** Spores (as indicated with red arrow) seen within the aggregate from picture A. The round to oval plasmodia (Fig. 17D,E) measured 190-970 x 120-930 μ m, with a mean diameter of 356 μ m (N=20). Spore measurements were taken from crushed plasmodia from seven eels representing all three geographic areas. The spores (Fig. 17A,B,C) measured (mean (range)) 10.9 (10.3-11.6) μ m in length, 8.6 (7.7-9.1) μ m in width and 6.0 (5.5-6.5) μ m in thickness. The polar capsules were 5.7 (4.6-6.7) μ m long, had diameter 2.9 (2.5-3.4) μ m and contained seven (6-8) coils of polar filament (N>30; except spore thickness N=12).



Figure 17 *Myxobolus* sp. spores and plasmodia. **A** Spore from a freshwater-caught eel, **B** spore from a freshwater-caught eel, **C** spores from a seawater-caught eel, **D** Plasmodium from a freshwater-caught eel, **E** Plasmodium from a freshwater-caught eel.

Partial SSU rDNA sequences (880-900 bp) were obtained from five samples (one from stomach, four from intestine) from four eels, representing freshwater eels from Grimstad, Etne and Bjugn. These sequences were identical. In GenBank, they showed highest identity (96.7 %) with *Myxobolus portucalensis* Saraiva et Molnár, 1990 (AF085182), a myxosporean from the fins of European eels.

3.1.3 Plathyhelminthes

Monogeneans

Pseudodactylogyrus anguillae (Yin et Sproston, 1948)

Infections with this monogenean (Fig. 18), as described by Ogawa and Egusa (1976), were only recorded in Grimstad FW eels, where 80 % of the fish were infected (Table 6). The parasites were unevenly distributed on the gills, with a trend that the first gill arch pair harboured fewest worms, and that the number of parasites increase with the gill arch number (Fig. 19). The parasite differs from its congener *P. bini* in the hamuli morphology, and while all worms were carefully examined, no *P. bini* was seen. There was no relationship between *P. anguillae* abundance and eel size ($r_s < 0.01$, p=0.96).



Figure 18 *Pseudodactylogyrus anguillae* observed on the gills of freshwater-caught eels, Grimstad. **A**, **B** ventral view, **C** anterior end of *P. anguillae* in picture B with visible eyespots, **D** close up of the posterior haptor of worm in picture A showing the hamuli.



Figure 19 Number of *P. anguillae* per gill arch, total counts from Grimstad FW. L=Left side, R=Right side.

<u>Trematoda</u>

Deropristis inflata (Molin, 1859)

Deropristis inflata (Fig. 20) was identified according to the description in (Dawes 1968). Infections with this trematode were observed at all the saltwater localities (Grimstad, Etne and Smøla), but never in freshwater-caught eels. The trematode primarily occurred in the posterior and anal part of the intestine, with a maximum intensity of 84 (Table 6). Both mature and immature specimens, measuring between 1.7 and 6.3 mm in length, occurred with a distribution of 90 % mature and 10 % immature in Etne and Smøla, and 65 % mature/35 % immature in Grimstad. The overall prevalence in saltwater caught eels was 47 %. Partial LSU rDNA reference sequences were obtained from three selected worms (one per locality). The sequences were invariant (900 bp compared). This represent the first time the *D. infalta* LSU gene is sequenced (partial).



Figure 20 Deropristin inflata, ventral view, from the intestine of a seawater-caught eel, Etne.

Podocotyle atomon (Rudolphi, 1802)

This opecoelid trematode, identified using Dawes (1947), was detected in eels from Etne SW, and in two eels caught in Bjugn (Table 6). All the specimens (n=104), were mature and between 2 and 3 mm in length (Fig. 21). They were observed in the posterior and anal part of the intestine. Partial LSU rDNA reference sequences were obtained from three selected worms (Etne, Bjugn). The sequences showed 99.9% identity with *P. atomon* from the White Sea (Russia) (MH161437). No sequence divergence was seen in the Norwegian *P. atomon* sequences from eel (859 bp compared).



Figure 21 *Podocotyle atomon* observed in the intestine. A ventral view, from a freshwater-caught eel, Bjugn, **B** dorsal view, from a seawater-caught eel, Etne.

Helicometra fasciata (Rudolphi, 1819)

A total of 38 specimens of this opecoelid trematode (Fig. 22) was found in 5 eels from Grimstad SW (prevalence 29 %) (Table 6). They occurred in the hind intestine. Some were immature (c. 1 mm), the oviferous worms reached 2.1 mm in length. Oral sucker width was 208 (195-220) μ m, ventral sucker diameter 298 (295-300) μ m, sucker index 1:1.4-1.5. Eggs (without filament measured 75 (72-78) μ m in length. The vitellarium reached pharynx, but was interrupted medially in the post-testicular region. Testes tandem, lobed, ovary 3-4 lobed. Based on these characteristics, the present specimens are identified with *Helicometra fasciata* Rudolphi following Odhner (1901) and Reversat et al. (1991).

The partial LSU rDNA sequence obtained from the specimen in Fig. 22 (880 nt) showed highest identity with *Helicometra* spp., however there were only 95.1 % identity with a

sequence of *H. fasciata* from *Epinephelus fasciatus* (Forsskål, 1775) from New Caledonia (KJ701238).



Figure 22 Helicometra fasciata from seawater-caught eel, Grimstad. A ventral view, vitellarium almost to pharynx (ph), and interrupted in the post-testicular area. Ovary (o) and testes (t) lobed; **B**, worm in dorsal view, **C**, uterine area, detail, filamented eggs.

Hemiurus communis Odhner, 1905

This trematode (Fig. 23) (family Hemiuridae), identified as *Hemiurus communis* according to Gibson and Bray (1986), was present in fish caught in Etne SW and Smøla SW. Most specimens, 0.8-2.2 mm in length, were mature (76-83 %, N=3206) and were primarily found in the lumen of the stomach with a maximum intensity of 255. A few were observed in the intestine. The prevalence was highest in Smøla with 97 % infected and 71 % in Etne SW (Table 6). Of all the saltwater caught eels, 65 % were infected. LSU rDNA reference sequences were obtained from two selected worms (Etne, Smøla). The sequences showed >93 % identity to hemiurids in GenBank, but no sequences of *H. communis* were

available for comparison. The two *H. communis* sequences differed by three substitutions (810 bp compared).



Figure 23 *Hemiurus communis* observed in the intestine of seawater-caught eels, Smøla. A ventral view, **B** lateral view.

Brachyphallus crenatus (Rudolphi, 1802)

One specimens of this trematode (family Hemiuridae), as described by Gibson and Bray (1986), was observed in an eel from Etne SW (area B) (Table 6). The parasite (Fig. 24) was located in the lumen of the stomach. A partial LSU rDNA reference sequence was obtained

from *B. crenatus* from a seawater-caught eel from Etne. Identity with sequences in GenBank (North Sea (KT767168), North Pacific (MH628299)) was 100 % (378-790 bp compared).



Figure 24 *Brachyphallus crenatus*, lateral view, from an eel caught in the Etnefjord, with visible seminal vesicle (arrow) dorsal-anterior to the ventral sucker.

Lecithichirium rufoviride (Rudolphi, 1819)

1mm

Lecithichirium rufoviride (Fig. 25) was identified using the description by Gibson and Bray (1986). Infections with this big trematode (family Hemiuridae), 1-7 mm in length, were observed in eels caught in Grimstad SW and Smøla (Table 6). Most specimens were mature (93-96%, N=1089) and were primarily found in the lumen of the stomach with a maximum

intensity of 152. A few were observed in the intestine. The prevalence was highest in Smøla with 90 % infected and 76 % in Grimstad SW. The parasite abundance correlated with eel size (Grimstad; r_s =0.80, p<0.001, Smøla; r_s =0.61, p<0.001). Partial LSU rDNA reference sequences was obtained from two *L. rufoviride* obtained from seawater-caught eels from Grimstad and Smøla. The sequence (819 nt) showed >92 % identity to related hemiurids in GenBank, but no sequences of *L. rufoviride* were available for comparison.



Figure 25 *Lecithochirium rufoviride* found in the lumen of the stomach in seawater-caught eels. **A** ventral view, **B** closeup of the oral sucker with postero-lateral thickening of wall, **C** lateral view.

Derogenes varicus (Müller, 1784)

This derogenid trematode (Fig. 26), identified as *Derogenes varicus* according to Gibson (1996), was observed in seawater-caught eels from Etne and Smøla, with a total prevalence of 10 % among all the seawater-caught eels examined (Table 6). All the specimens (N=16) were mature, 1.5-2 mm in length. Most were found in the oesophagus, some were found in the stomach and one in the anal part of the intestine. Partial LSU rDNA reference sequences were obtained from two selected worms (Etne, Smøla). These sequences were identical (757 bp), and in BLAST search they showed highest identity (97.7 %) with *D. varicus* from Scottish waters.



Figure 26 Derogenes varicus from seawater-caught eels. A, B lateral view.

Lecithaster gibbosus (Rudolphi, 1802)

Specimens of this lecithasterid trematode (Fig. 27), as described by Gibson (1996), were observed in fish caught in Etne SW and Smøla SW. Three fish in total were infected with a

maximum intensity of two (Table 6). The parasite was found in the lumen of the posterior part of the intestine. Partial LSU rDNA were not obtained from the DNA extraction of two selected worms (Etne, Smøla).



Figure 27 Lecithaster gibbosus from the intestine of a seawater-caught eel, lateral view.

Diplostomum sp.

Infection with metacercaria larvae of this trematode (family Diplostomidae), as described by Dawes (1968), Gibson (1996) and Bykhovskaya-Pavlovskaya (1962), was only found in one freshwater-caught eel from Etne (Table 6). One metacercaria (Fig. 28) was observed in the vitreous humour near the lens in both eyes. A partial LSU rDNA sequence was obtained from one of these metacercariae. The sequence (872 nt) showed 99.8 % identity with a sequence (KR269765) of *Diplostomum spathaceum* (Rudolphi, 1819) from a final host, the black headed gull (*Larus ridibundus*).



Figure 28 *Diplostomum spathaceum* found in the eyes vitreous humor in the eye of a freshwater-caught eel from Etne.

<u>Cestoda</u>

'Scolex pleuronectis'

Infection with cestode larvae of this morphotype, with bilocular bothridia (Fig. 29), was observed in two eels caught near Smøla (Table 6). The worms were 1.6-1.8 mm long and 0.6-0.7 mm wide, with the minor anterior bothridial loculus measuring 157-185 μ m in diameter, the posterior 189-232 μ m and the apical sucker 105-112 μ m in diameter. The parasites were located in the lumen of the anal part of the intestine. A partial LSU rDNA sequence (405 nt) was obtained from one of the two worms. It showed highest identity (99.8 %) with the tetraphyllidean *Phyllobothrium squali* Yamaguti, 1952, a parasite of the shark *Squalus acanthias*.



Figure 29 *Phyllobothrium squali* observed in the anal part of the intestine of seawater-caught eels, Smøla. A worm measuring 1.8 mm, **B** worm measuring 1.6 mm, **C** close up of the apical sucker of the worm in picture A **D** close up of the bilocular bothridia of the worm in picture B.

Proteocephalus macrocephalus (Creplin, 1825)

This cestode (Fig. 30), identified according to Scholz and Hanzelova (1998), was observed in both freshwater and saltwater caught fish from Etne (Table 6). The adult mature parasites, 180-250 mm long, were located in the anterior part of the intestine. A reference LSU rDNA sequence (1243 nt) of *P. microcephalus* from Etne showed 98.7 % identity to an available sequence in GenBank (EF095261) from a River Thames eel (U.K.).



Figure 30 *Proteocephalus macrocephalus* obsrved in the intestine of a seawater-caught eel, Etne. **A** scolex with four suckers, **B** mature progleottids.

Bothriocephalus claviceps (Goeze, 1782)

Specimens belonging to *B. claviceps* (Fig. 31), as described by Scholz (1997), were found in the intestine of fish caught in Etne FW, Bjugn and Smøla (Table 6). The cestodes measured 33-100 mm in length. Both mature and immature specimens were observed. A reference LSU rDNA sequence (1213 nt) of a mature *B. claviceps* from Etne showed 98.8 % identity to an available sequence in GenBank (DQ925323) from a Czech eel.



Figure 31 *Bothriocephalus clavicpes* observed in freshwater-caught eels, Etne. A immature worm, **B** close up of the scolex, **C** mature progleottids from another specimen.

Dibothriocephalus ditremus (Creplin, 1825)

In eels caught in Etne FW (Table 6), brownish capsules occurred (Fig. 32B,C,D) in the stomach wall. Some of these contained small smooth cestode larvae (Fig. 32A) morphologically identifiable with *D. ditremus* according to Andersen and Gibson (1989). Partial LSU rDNA sequences were obtained from four worms. The consensus sequence (1227 nt) showed 100 % identity with sequences from *D. ditremus* plerocercoids from U.K. (KY552813) salmonids and a plerocercoid from a threespine stickleback (*Gasterosteus aculeatus* L., 1758) from lake Gjønavatn, Fusa.



Figure 32 *Dibothriocephalus ditremus* plerocercoids from the stomach wall of freshwatercaught eels, Etne. A intact worm dissected out of a capsule, **B**, **C** worm in their capsules, **D** degraded encapsulated worm.

Bothriocephalidean plerocercoids

Bothriocephalidean plerocercoids were observed in the lumen of the posterior part of the intestine in seawater-caught eels from Etne (Table 6). The worms measured 1.4-3.8 mm in length and had 3-16 proglottids. The biggest worms had craspedote strobila (Fig. 33A,C) and the scolex showed two bothria and often a distinct apical disc (Fig. 33B). Partial LSU rDNA sequences were obtained from five worms. All showed 100% identity (1180 nt compared) with sequences from *Eubothrium crassum* (Bloch, 1779) from *Salmo* spp. in freshwater, as well as from *Eubothrium* sp. from seawater farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L., 1758) in Norway.



Figure 33 *Eubothrium crassum* from the intestinal lumen of Etne eels (seawater). These larvae were molecularly identified with *Eubothrium crassum*, a cestode maturing in salmonids (*Salmo* spp.). A big worm with craspedote stobila (red circle), **B** small worm with visible apical disk (red arrow) and bothria (yellow arrow), **C** worm also showing craspedote strobila. All to same scale.

3.1.4 Acanthocephala

Echinorhynchus gadi Zoega, 1776

Infections with *Echinorhynchus gadi* (Fig. 34), as described by Arai (1989), were observed in seawater-caught eels from Etne and Smøla (Table 6). The 6.5-23 mm long and apparently immature acanthocephalans were located in the lumen of the intestine.



Figure 34 *Echinorhynchys gadi* recorded in the lumen of the intestine of a seawater-caught eel, Etne. **A** Male specimen with two visible testis (t) **B** Close up of the proboscis.

3.1.5 Nematoda

Pseudocapillaria tomentosa (Dujardin, 1843)

Only one freshwater-caught eel from Grimstad had an infection with this capillariid nematode (Table 6), identified as *Pseudocapillaria tomentosa* according to Moravec (1987). The specimen observed (Fig. 35) was male, measured c. 140 mm, and was embedded in the anal part of the intestinal wall.



Figure 35 *Pseudocapillaria tomentosa* recorded encapsulated in the intestinal wall of a freshwater-caught eel, Grimstad. A posterior part, **B** anterior part

Eustrongylides sp.

Infections with small specimens (7.5-8.3 mm) of this dioctophymid nematode, identified according to Berland (1961), were detected in freshwater-caught eels from Etne and Bjugn (Table 6). The reddish coloured parasite (Fig. 36) was encapsulated in the stomach wall, with some of the capsules containing degraded nematodes (not counted).



Figure 36 *Eustrongylides* sp. from capsules in the stomach wall of freshwater-caught eels, Etne **A** worm dissected out of the capsule, **B** encapsulated apparently partly degrded worm, **C** anterior part of the worm in A, **D** posterior part of the worm in A.

Daniconema anguillae Moravec et Køie, 1987

Nematode larvae of *D. anguillae* (Fig. 37A,B,C), identified according to Moravec and Køie (1987), were first detected and identified from the gills of an eel (Fig. 37E). This discovery then led to examination of the dorsal and pectoral fin where the parasite was also found (Fig. 37D). The larvae were small, 1.4-1.5 mm. The infected fish were freshwater-caught eels from Grimstad, Etne and Orkla (Table 6). A total of ten eels were found infected, where the nematode most often were recorded in the gills, and in greatest amount in the pectoral fin. The intensities were very high, densities in the pectoral fin reached 1.6 larvae per mm² (Grimstad eel). No adult specimens were found in the typical site, the swimbladder wall. Abundance showed a positive correlation with eel length (r_s =0.61, p<0.01).



Figure 37 *Daniconema anguillae* larvae, found infecting the gills and the pectoral fin of freshwater-caught eels. A dissected out from the gill, **B** close-up of anterior part of the nematode with visible boring tooth (red arrow), **C** close-up of tail end, **D** *in situ* in pectoral fin, **E** *in situ* in gill filament.

Paraquimperia tenerrima (Linstow, 1878)

Freshwater-caught eels from Etne, Bjugn and Orkla were registered as infected with this nematode (Fig. 38), identified according to Arai and Smith (2016). The parasites, 1-10.5 mm in length, were located in the lumen of the intestine with a maximum intensity of 37. The prevalence was highest in Etne (73 %) (Table 6) and the overall prevalence in freshwater-caught eels was 37 %.



Figure 38 *Paraquimperia tenerrima* from the lumen of the intestine of a freshwater-caught eel, Etne. A female specimen, **B** male specimen, **C** anterior part of the female specimen with visible lateral alae (arrow), **D** close up of the straight tail of the female specimen, **E** close up of the ventrally bent tail of the male specimen with visible spicules

Paracuaria adunca (Creplin, 1846)

Infections with this acuariid nematode were only observed in three seawater-caught eels from Etne (Table 6). The larvae were coiled up in spirals and encapsulated (Fig. 39C) in the stomach wall. Out of the 151 specimens registered, 30 were dissected out, examined more closely in the microscope and were identified as *P. adunca* larvae (Fig. 39A,B,D) according to the description by Anderson and Wong (1982).



Figure 39 *Paracuaria adunca* recorded encapsulated in the stomach wall of seawater-caught eel, Etne. A worm dissected out of capsule, **B** anterior part of the worm, **C** encapsulated worm , **D** posterior end of the worm.

Cucullanellus minutus (Rudolphi, 1819)

Only one seawater-caught eel from Etne was infected with *C. minutus* (Table 6), as described by Arai and Smith (2016). The 3 mm long adult female worm (Fig. 40)was located in the posterior part of the intestine.



Figure 40 *Cucullanellus minutus* recorded in the intestine of seawater-caught eel, damaged form flattening.

Hysterothylacium aduncum (Rudolphi, 1802)

Infections with this raphidascarid nematode (Fig. 41), identified according to Berland (1961), were detected in seawater-caught eels from Etne and Smøla. The preadult or adult specimens (stage IV-V), 5-45 mm long, were located in the lumen of the intestine with a maximum intensity of 13. The prevalence was highest in Smøla with 37 % (Table 6). ITS1-5.8s-ITS2 sequences were obtained from two worms from Etne and Smøla. Both showed 100 % identity (1052 nt compared) with *Hysterothylacium aduncum* from sprat in Denmark (KU306720).



Figure 41 *Hysterothylacium aduncum* from the lumen of the intestine of seawater-caught eels, Smøla. A female specimen, **B** close up of the anterior end, **C** close up of the tail of the female specimen and detail of the characteristic "cactus-tail", **D** close up of a male tail with visible everted spicules.

Anisakis simplex (Rudolphi, 1809)

This nematode (Anisakidae), identified according to Berland (1961), was detected in both freshwater-caught eels from Grimstad and seawater-caught eels from Smøla, each locality represented by two infected fish (Table 6). The parasites (Fig. 42), 18-27 mm long, were encapsulated in the mesenteries around the stomach and intestine. ITS1-5.8s-ITS2 sequences

were obtained from two worms from Grimstad and Smøla. Both showed 99.9 % identity (974-985 nt compared) with sequences from *Anisakis simplex sensu stricto¹*.



Figure 42 *Anisakis simplex* recorded encapsulated in the mesenteries around the intestine in a seawater-caught eel, Smøla. A worm dissected out of the capsule, **B** anterior end, **C** anterior end with the characteristic spike (arrow) at the rounded posterior end.

Contracaecum spp.

Both freshwater-caught eels from Grimstad and Etne, and seawater-caught eels from Grimstad, Etne and Smøla were infected with *Contracaecum* sp (Anisakidae) larvae (Table

¹ Recent, more restricted sence

6), as described by Arai and Smith (2016). The small (1.8-3.8 mm) nematode larvae were encapsulated in the wall of the stomach and intestine, and in the mesenteries surrounding these organs. ITS1-5.8s-ITS2 sequences were obtained from 15 worms representing all the localities with infected fish. All sequences of larvae obtained from Grimstad (FW and SW) and Etne SW eels showed >99 % identity with *Contracaecum rudolphii* Hartwich, 1964 from cormorants in Sardinia, genotype A (Fig. 43B,C,E). The sequence of a larva from Smøla was identical to that of an adult worm from a cormorant (*Phalacrocorax carbo*) from the Masfjord, W Norway included. In GenBank, these showed >98 % identity with a *Contracaecum* sp. larvae from a marine fish from the Atlantic coast of USA, and >99 % identity with *Contracaecum chubutensis* Garbin, Diaz, Cremonte et Navone, 2008 (Fig. 43D). A specimen from Etne FW (Fig. 43A) revealed an ambiguous *C. rudolphii* sequence, representing a mixed *C. rudolphii* A and B signal in the ITS sequences.



Figure 43 *Contracaecum* sp. worms. A *Contracaecum* sp. recorded in freshwater-caught eel, Etne, **B** *C. rudolphii* A recorded in freshwater-caught eel, Grimstad, **C** *C. rudolphii* A recorded in seawater-caught eel, Grimstad, **D** *C. chubutensis* recorded in seawater-caught eel, Smøla, **E** *C. rudolphii* A recorded in seawater-caught eel, Etne.
Aguillicola crassus Kuwahara, Niimi et Itagaki, 1974

Anguillicola crassus (Fig. 44), identified according to Arai and Smith (2016), was only observed infecting the swimbladder of eels caught in Grimstad, in 23 freshwater and a single fish caught in seawater (Table 6). The prevalence in Grimstad FW was 77 % with a maximum intensity of 10. The nematodes measured 2.3-32 mm in length and >99 % of the 63 worms registered were collected from the lumen of the swimbladder. Only one specimen was recorded in the wall of the swimbladder (3.7 mm in length).



Figure 44 *Anguillicola crassus* recorded from the swimbladder of a freshwater-caught eel, Grimstad.

3.2 Fresh gills examination

Most eels examined had been frozen, so protist parasites that do not produce spores could not be revealed. However, squash preparations of the gills of all eels from Etne FW and Etne SW were examined fresh. The only parasites observed during this screening was *Paramyxidium branchialis*. Hence the prevalence of the protists *Ichhtyobodo* sp., *Trichodina* sp. and monogeneans from the genus *Gyrodactylus* (all previously found in north-European eels) were 0 on the basis of gill examination.

3.3 Parasite diversity

In freshwater-caught eels, 18 species were found. These represented one coccidian, five myxosporeans, one ectoparasite and 12 endohelminths, the latter of six larval and six adult stage forms. Twelve species were eel specialists, the coccidian *Epieimeria anguillae*, four myxosporeans and five endohelmints (*Bothriocephalus claviceps, Proteocephalus macrocephalus, Paraquimperia tenerrima, Anguillicola crassus* and *Daniconema anguillae*) and the ectoparasite *Pseudodactylogyrus anguillae*. Of the endohelminth individuals (N=513), 54 % were adult stage, and 46 % larval forms, the latter underestimated since the *D. anguillae* infrapopulations were not fully censused. For the same reason, > 77 % of the endohelminth individuals were eel specialists while the rest were generalists.

In the seawater caught eels, 22 species were found. These represented four myxosporeans and 18 endohelminths, the latter of five larval and 13 adult stage forms. Eel specialists were represented by eight species, four myxosporeans and four endohelminths (*Lecithochirium rufoviride, Deropristis inflata, P. macrocephalus, A crassus*). Of the endohelminth individuals collected (N=5588), 68 % were of generalists, while 32 % were eel specialists. A total of 94 % were adults, only 6 % larval forms.

The seawater caught eels were less likely to harbour myxosporean infections than eels from freshwater. The endohelminth and gastrointestinal helminth communities in seawater caught eels were richer in number of species and individuals than in the freshwater eels (Table 7).

	Freshwater eels		Seawater eels			
	Grimstad	Etne	Bjugn	Grimstad	Etne	Smøla
Ectoparasites						
N species	1	0	0	0	0	0
Mean N species per eel	0.8					
Prevalence (%)	80					
Myxosporea						
N species	4	5	5	1	3	2
Mean N species per eel	0.7	1.4	1.9	0.4	0.5	0.3
Prevalence (%)	54	73	90	41	48	33
Endohelminths						
N species	5	8	4	5	13	10
Mean N species per eel	1.5	1.4	0.4	1.8	2.4	3.1
Mean N individuals per eel	8.0	7.7	0.8	26.7	91.5	76.3
Prevalence (%)	90	86	30	94	94	100
Gastrointestinal helminths						
N species	1	3	3	3	11	8
Mean N species per eel	0.03	1.0	0.3	1.5	2.1	3.0
Mean N individuals per eel	0.03	6.0	0.6	26.1	85.0	74.5
Prevalence (%)	3	79	27	88	94	100

Table 7 Some diversity measures for the parasite communities in the studied eel samples. N=number.

3.4 Habitat and parasite origin

According to their life cycles, discussed below (p. 66), the parasites were classified as freshwater or marine (Table 8). They were further subdivided into parasites that are acquired from free infective stages in the water ('penetration'; Myxosporean actinospores, monogenean oncomiracidia, trematode cercariae) or through prey (endoparasitic helminths).

Table 8 Indicator parasites (freshwater, marine) used in the evaluation of eel interhabitat shifting (IHS). The freshwater residence indicators infect the fish through the external surfaces. The freshwater and marine feeding parasites are acquired by feeding on freshwater or marine prey harbouring parasite larvae. The background data for this list is provided in Appendix Table 1 and Table 2, which represents a summary of the information provided on this subject in the Discussion.

Indicator of:	Parasite	Indicator of:	Parasite
Freshwater re	sidence	Marine feed	ling
indicators		indicators	
	Paramyxidium branchialis (My)		Hemiurus communis (T)
	Paramyxidium magi (My)		Brachyphallus crenatus (T)
	Myxobolus sp. (My)		Lecithochirium rufoviride (T)
	Diplostomum spathaceum (T)		Derogenes varicus (T)
	Daniconema anguillae (N)		Lecithaster gibbosus (T)
			<i>Podocotyle atomon</i> (T)
Freshwater feeding indicators			Helicometra faciata (T)
	Proteocephalus macrocephalus (C)		Deropristis inflata (T)
	Bothriocephalus claviceps (C)		<i>Eubothrium</i> sp. (C)
	Dibothriocephalus ditremus (C)		Phyllobothrium squali (C)
	Pseudocapillaria tomentosa (N)		Cucullanellus minutus (N)
	Eustrongylides sp. (N)		Hysterothylacium aduncum (N)
	Paraquimperis tenerrima (N)		Anisakis simplex (N)
	Anguillicola crassus (N)		Contracaecum rudolphii A (N)
Not usable as	indicators		Contracaecum chubutensis (N)
	Paramyxidium giardi (My)		Paracuaria adunca (N)
	Hoferellus gilsoni (My)		Echinorhynchus gadi (A)
	Zschokkella stettinensis (My)		
	Pseudodactylogyrus anguillae (Mo)		
	Contracaecum sp. A/B (N)		

My-myxozoa, T-trematode, C-cestode, N-nematoda, Mo-Monogenea, A-Acanthacephalan

Overall, 15 parasite species were clearly of freshwater origin, and 17 were marine. *Paramyxidium giardi* and an ambiguous genotype of *Contracaecum rudolphii* could not be assigned to a habitat, and one species, the coccidian *Epieimeria anguillae* could show transmission in both habitats and was not considered. Hence 32 parasite species were clearly connected to either FW or SW. Three of the 15 freshwater parasite (*H. gilsoni, Z. stettinensis, P. anguillae*) could not be used as indicators, since they do not survive in seawater, The final list therefor contained 12 freshwater parasites and 18 seawater parasites were considered as indicator species and used to examine habitat shift (inter-habitat shifters, IHS). Marine parasites detected in freshwater eels were all acquired through prey. They occurred in 0-43 % (Table 9) of the freshwater eels. In Grimstad FW, marine parasites constituted 56 % of all the endohelminth individuals (N=141). In Bjugn the only marine parasite occurring was *P. atomon,* while in Grimstad FW 97 % were *Contracaecum rudolphii* A larvae and the rest *A. simplex*.

FW locality	% infected with marine parasites
Grimstad	43
Etne	0
Bjugn	7

 Table 9 Occurrence of marine parasites (%) in freshwater-caught eel.

Five parasites of freshwater origin (the myxosporeans *P. branchialis, P. magi* and *Myxobolus* sp., the cestode *P. microcephalus* and nematode *A. crassus*) occurred in seawater-caught eels. Freshwater parasites were detected in 33-47 % (Table 10) of the 78 seawater-caught eels. With the exception of one eel from Grimstad SW with *A. crassus* and two from Etne SW infected with *P. microcephalus,* close to all these individuals harboured histozoic myxosporeans (*Myxobolus* sp., *P. magi* and *P. branchialis*). Of the 32 seawater-caught eels with freshwater parasites, 31 harboured freshwater myxosporeans.

Table 10 Occurrence of freshwater parasites (%) in seawater-caught eel

SW locality	% infected with FW parasites
Grimstad	47
Etne	45
Smøla	33

3.5 Fatty acid analysis

Fatty acid analysis were performed by Camilla Parzanini on the eels from Etne (FW/SW) that were examined for parasites. Based on the M/F fatty acid ratios, the eels were by her categorized as having either freshwater (FW), brackish water (BW), intermediate (SW/BW) or seawater signatures (SW). All the FW eels had clear FW fatty acid profiles. However, the seawater-caught eels had BW, SW/BW and SW signatures, but some harboured parasites of freshwater origin.

The freshwater parasites detected in the Etne SW samples were *Myxobolus* sp., *Paramyxidium branchialis* and *Proteocephalus macrocephalus*. The proportion of freshwater-acquired parasites in eels with BW signature was not significantly higher than in eels with SW or SW/BW signature (Table 11; FET, p=0.15).

However, two of the eels with BW signature carried *P. macrocephalus* infections (3 and 4 large worms), while none of the eels with SW or SW/BW signature were infected. This difference was significant (FET, p<0.03).

Table 11 2 x 2 table. Occurrence of freshwater acquired parasites in seawater-caught eels in

 Etne SW, according to fatty acid signature categories. BW=brackish water, SW=seawater.

	Freshwater parasites		
	Present	Absent	
BW signature	4	1	
SW or SW/BW signature	11	15	

FET, p=0.15

3.6 Otolith microchemistry analyses

Microchemical analyses were performed on otoliths from the Etne eels by Mehis Rohtla. Based on these analyses, he classified the eels as either freshwater resident (FWR), marine water resident (MWR) or inter-habitat shifters (IHS). All the freshwater-caught eels (Etne FW) were classified from the otoliths as FWR. These eels did not harbour parasites of certain marine origin (but see *Contracaecum* sp. p. 84).

The seawater-caught eels were either IHS, MWR or intermediate (MWR/HIS). All categories of eels harboured parasites of freshwater origin (*Myxobolus* sp., *Paramyxidium branchialis* and *Proteocephalus macrocephalus*).

There were no significant difference between eels that showed a MWS signature and those with an indication of habitat shifting (IHS) in the occurrence of parasites of freshwater origin

(Table 12;FET=0.22). Two eels had intestinal infections by the freshwater cestode *P*. *macrocephalus*. One was classified as IHS, the other as MWR.

Table 12. 2 x 2 table. Occurrence of freshwater acquired parasites in freshwater-caught eelsin Etne SW, according to otolith microchemistry classifications. IHS=inter-habitat shifters,MWR=marine water resident

	Freshwater parasites		
	Present	Absent	
IHS or MWR/IHS	6	4	
MWR	8	13	
FET=0.22	•		

4 Discussion

4.1 Parasites in European eel from Norway

A total of 34 parasite species were observed in the 171 eels examined. Prior to the present study, there were records of 20 species from Norway (Table 1). The list has now increased with 21 additional species.

4.1.1 Protists

Epieimeria anguillae is a coccidian which infect the foregut epithelium of eels. It was first described from the European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) from Corsica (Léger & Hollande 1922). The parasite has later been reported from most countries in Europe south of Scandinavia and from Iceland Kristmundsson and Helgason (2007), mostly in freshwater eels. This is the first observation of *E. anguillae* in Norway. Like most fish infecting coccidia, *E. anguillae* likely has a direct infection route. *Epieimeria anguillae* occur both in freshwater and seawater-caught eels (Daoudi et al. 1989, Benajiba et al. 1994, Kristmundsson & Helgason 2007). While clearly becoming infected in freshwater (Lacey & Williams 1983), it is unclear if transmission also may occur in the sea. It was therefore dismissed as an indicator species for habitat shift in the present study, and not systematically screened for.

It was surprising that none of the eels from Etne showed any signs of microscopic ectoparasites in the gills. *Trichodina* sp. infections have previously been noted in wild marine eels from Bergen (Karlsbakk, pers. comm.), and the ciliate was registered in a freshwater eel from Sunnmøre (Karlsbakk in Sterud (1999)). These ciliates has also caused problems in freshwater eel culture in Norway (Jensen 1998). In Scottish eels, the prevalence of the flagellate *Ichthyobodo* sp. was high (McGuigan & Sommerville 1985), but these flagellates occurred in highest densities on the skin.

4.1.2 Myxosporea

Myxosporeans have obligate two-host life cycles involving a vertebrate and an annelid (Oligochaeta, Polychaeta). Different types of multicellular spores are produced in these hosts. Myxospores produced in the vertebrate are infective for the annelid host, while the actinospores produced in the annelid are infective for the vertebrate, which typically is a fish (Kent et al. 2001, Melendy & Cone 2003). Myxosporeans are classified according to the myxospore morphology. Tissue tropism and sites are often characteristic for different phylogenetic groups (Fiala 2006). They are usually either tissue parasites (histozoic) or inhabit cavities such as the gall and urinary bladders (coelozoic).

Paramyxidium spp.

Genus Paramyxidium was erected by Freeman & Kristmundsson (2018) for a phylogenetic grouping of *Myxidium*-like histozoic parasites of eel, earlier considered a single species, Myxidium giardi. This M. giardi in the 'old sense' (sensu lato) was originally described from the kidney of the European eel in France. Infections with similar *Myxidium* spp. have since been reported in other Anguilla spp. globally. Many of these Myxidium spp. were subsequently synonymized with M. giardi. Due to this it is unknown if M. giardi is a widely distributed parasite which infects numerous species of eels in multiple organs, or if some infections represent other, morphologically similar but different species of myxosporeans. However, Freeman & Kristmundsson (2018) genetically characterised Myxidium giardi-like parasites from different infection sites in eels from Iceland and showed there were three different species, which they placed in their new genus Paramyxidium. Paramyxidium giardi infect the kidney, P. branchialis the gills and P. magi the gut wall (Freeman & Kristmundsson 2018). The present observations support the validity and tissue tropism of P. giardi and P. branchialis. However, the P. magi sequences from the present study were associated with a *Paramyxidium* sp. with clearly smaller spores than recorded by Freeman and Kristmundsson (2018). This species was in addition to the stomach wall also detected in the kidneys. Further studies are needed, but it now seems possible that the genotype described from Icelandic eels was matched with the wrong phenotype.

In the present study *P. giardi* was found in freshwater-caught eels from Grimstad, Etne and Bjugn, and in seawater-caught eels from Etne. There is a previous record of *Myxidium giardi sensu lato* from Norwegian eels (Mo & Sterud 1998), reporting gill infections in eels from Årungen and Glomma, and also infections in the intestinal wall of eels caught below Sarpsfossen in Glomma. The sites suggest that these records could have represented *P. branchialis* and *P. magi*. Hence the present record represents the first confirmed infections with *P. giardi* in Norway. The present detection of *P. branchialis* in freshwater-caught eels from Grimstad, Etne and Bjugn and seawater-caught eels from Grimstad, Etne and Smøla and *P. magi* in an eel from Smøla also represent new confirmed records for Norway (for *P. magi* based on the sequence), but these species may have been present in the eels examined by Mo & Sterud (1998) from eastern Norway.

According to Benajiba & Marques (1993), Myxidium giardi (very likely P. giardi, since kidney cysts) infect freshwater oligochaetes (Tubifex sp.) where actinospores of the aurantiactinomyxon type develops. These were infective to glass eels, in which kidney cysts containing spores appeared after 2 months. The whole life cycle was found to take four months at 12°C. However, recently Rocha et al. (2019) showed that a myxosporean developing aurantiactinomyxon spores in the estuarine oligochaete *Tubificoides pseudogaster* was P. giardi according to its SSU rDNA sequence. This observation suggest that the life cycle of this species could be completed in estuaries such as river mouths. Freeman and Kristmundsson (2018) showed that numerous freshwater oligochaete actinosporeans belong to the *Paramyxidium* clade, suggesting both a higher diversity in this genus than presently recognized, and that the life cycles are mostly completed in freshwater. The life cycles of P. branchialis and P. magi have not been demonstrated, but sequences of two actinospore morphs of the Synactimomyxon type from *Tubifex tubifex* in a Scottish river show very high identity with the sequences of these two Paramyxidium spp. and they must be conspecific (Holzer et al. (2004) vide Freeman and Kristmundsson (2018)). These myxosporeans are therefore regarded as freshwater species, while P. giardi is considered as potentially marine.

Hoferellus gilsoni and Zschokkella stettinensis

The urinary bladder infecting coelozoic myxosporeans *Hoferellus gilsoni* and *Zschokkella stettinensis* were only found in freshwater eels. These may not survive in eels in seawater, since the eel then should produce hypersaline urine. Therefore, these coelozoic species cannot be used as indicator parasites for freshwater origin. The *H. gilsoni* sequence in GenBank, provided by Holzer et al. (2004) from a Scottish eel was confirmed. The *Zschokkella* sp. and *Myxidium giardi* sequences obtained in that study is here found to represent the same species, identified with *Z. stettinensis*. My *Z. stettinensis* sequences confirm that a sequence from the actinosporean *Neoactinomyxon eiseniellae* (Ormières et Frézil, 1969) is from the same species. That is then evidence for the inclusion of its host, the freshwater oligochaete *Eiseniella tetraedra*, in the *Z. stettinensis* life cycle (Holzer et al. 2004). Therefore, this

myxosporean may occur throughout the range of the eel in Norway, and also occur in Scotland, Poland, France and Portugal (Debaisieux 1925, Wierzbicka 1987, Wierzbicka & Orecka-Grabda 1994, Saraiva & Eiras 1996, Rodjuk & Shelenkova 2006). The life cycle of *Hoferellus gilsoni* is still unknown.

Myxobolus sp.

The *Myxobolus* sp. detected here in the lamina propria of the hindgut is morphologically identical with Myxobolus dermatobius (Ishii, 1915) sensu Copland (1982), from the same site in juvenile English eels. However, according to Copland (1982) the site is the muscularis, where the parasite was never found in the present study. Possibly, the much smaller eels in the English study had plasmodia protruding into the muscularis. *M. dermatobius* was originally described from cysts in the skin of Japanese eel (Anguilla japonica) from Japan, with spores being clearly smaller (6.3-7.0 µm long) (Ishii 1915). Skin or fin cysts did not occur in the present material, nor in Copland's (1982) eels, and Hoshina (1952) confirmed the small spore size in *M. dermatobius*. Therefore, together with a different site, host species and geographic distribution, Myxobolus sp. cannot be identified with M. dermatobius. In European eels, Myxobolus portucalensis and Myxobolus kotlani Molnar, Lom et. Malik, 1986 produce macroscopically visible cysts in the fins and skin respectively (Saraiva & Molnár 1990) (Molnár et al. 1986). The former differs from *Myxobolus* sp. by its much larger spores (averaging 12.6 µm in length) and in the SSU rDNA sequences. Myxobolus kotlani has similar but significantly smaller spores, and never occur in the gut. Myxobolus sp. is therefore considered a likely new species. Its confinement to freshwater eels, and the fact that related Myxobolus spp. also are freshwater parasites indicate that the unknown life cycle is freshwater-restricted.

4.1.3 Platyhelmintes

Monogenean

Pseudodactylogyrus anguillae

This gill monogenean is one of two *Anguilla*-specific species of the genus *Pseudodactylogyrus* present in Norway, the other is *P. bini* (Mo 1999). *P. anguillae* has a

direct life cycle, where eggs are released to the environment by adult worms, and oncomiracidia that hatch from the eggs finds and infects an eel (Buchmann et al. 1987).

The gill ectoparasite was only recorded in freshwater-caught eels from Grimstad, whit a prevalence of 80 %. There was, like in the study by Fazio et al. (2009), surprisingly no clear positive relationship between abundance and eel size (400-647 mm), which is the opposite of what has previously been shown in both wild eel (Barker & Cone 1997, Aguilar et al. 2005) and eel farmed in a commercial eel-culture system (Buchmann 1989). Buchmann (1989) explained it with the larger space available in the gills of larger eels, but interactions between the host and the parasites also make such correlations less distinct in older infections (Buchmann 1993). Seawater entering the lake Landvikvannet, Grimstad, allows the eels there to move from freshwater to saline environment. If this occur, then that could cause *P. anguillae* mortality within days. If such habitat-shifting contribute to the observed pattern, then such movements must be most frequent among large eels.

P. anguillae seems to show a preference for the posterior gill arches. The same trend has been noted in other studies (Buchmann 1988, 1993), but then also with *P. bini* present. Hence the present study demonstrates this microhabitat pattern with *P. anguillae* infection alone.

Pseudodactylogyrus anguillae, together with *P. bini*, is geographically widespread worldwide, also in Norway (section 4.2) due to uncontrolled transport of live eels, even intercontinental transfer (Køie 1988c, Matejusová et al. 2003).

Trematoda

Trematodes have complicated life cycles with several hosts involved. The first intermediate host is most often a mollusc, gastropod or bivalve, where cercaria larvae develops. These are usually released and may infect the second intermediate host, where they develop into metacercaria larvae. The final host is most often infected by eating the second intermediate host with metacercariae.

The examined eels hosted nine different trematode species, one species as a metacercaria larvae and eight as adults. All the trematode species, except two, are generalists that are able to infect different teleost species. The specialist trematodes seen were the marine *Deropristis inflata* and *Lecithochirium rufoviride* which only infects eels.

Deropristis inflata

Deropristis inflata differs from most digeneans by its unusual host-specificity pattern, the trematode is host-specific in regard to the final host, the eel, while the cercariae of *D. inflata* develop in several gastropod groups. The second intermediate hosts are nereid polyachaetes, such as *Hediste diversicolor* that harbour metacercariae (Vaes 1978, Køie 1988b). Most other digeneans are host-specific toward the first intermediate host (Køie, 1988b).

Deropristis inflata appears to be the most common parasite of European eels in saline waters. Kristmundsson and Helgason (2007) compared intestinal helminth component communities between brackish and marine localities in Europe and found that *D. inflata* was the dominant species at 15 of 19 localities (distributed between six countries). In the present study, *D. inflata* was not found to be the dominant species at any of the marine localities, but is the only trematode that is present at all. The infected eels most likely got infected by eating *H. diversicolor*.

The parasite has previously been reported from European eels in Norway from Bergen (Olsson 1868), and from below the Sarpsfossen in Glomma (Mo & Sterud 1998). The latter observation suggest that it may be brought into freshwater by eels, and can be a biological tag for eels that have fed in the sea.

Podocotyle atomon

Podocotyle atomon is a widely distributed parasite of marine fishes (Hunninen & Cable 1943). The life cycle involves cercariae that develop in the littoral snail *Littorina saxatilis*, which is the main snail host and first intermediate host. The second intermediate host is various crustaceans, especially amphipods where infectious metacercariae develop. These then infect the final host, apparently any marine teleost (Hunninen & Cable 1943, Køie 1984).

In the present study *P. atomon* was registered in saltwater caught eels from Etne and freshwater-caught eels from Bjugn. The parasite is most common in sheltered areas, often with reduced salinity (Køie 1984). Estuarine environments are widespread in Norway, including outside the river mouths in Bjugn and Etne. Kennedy et al. (1992) also reported *P. atomon* from freshwater-caught eels in England. They explained these findings by the proximity of the sampling locality to the estuaries. This is most likely also the case in this

study whit the sample locality in Bjugn being a maximum of 200 m from the river mouth. The eels could readily make sojourns downstream to brackish waters and feed on e.g. amphipods.

This is the first registered finding of *Podocotyle atomon* in European eel in Norway, but it has been registered in this host in other European countries like Denmark, Germany, England, Iceland and Portugal (Jakob et al. 2016).

Helicometra fasciata

Stossich (1902) described a separate species, *Helicometra mutabilis* (Stossich, 1902) from marine eels (Adriatic Sea), which is very similar to the present form, except for a relatively larger ventral sucker in the Adriatic species. That species is now considered synonymous with *H. fasciata* (Aken'Ova et al. 2006). *H. fasciata* has been described from many parts of the world, such as Oceania, Australia, the Mediterranean and the northeast North Atlantic. However, as suggested by Aken'Ova et al. (2006), the present LSU rDNA sequences support that *H. fasciata* is a species complex, consisting of several morphologically similar species.

The first intermediate host for *H. fasciata* is certain snails in the genus *Steromphala* (previously *Gibbula*), one of which is common on kelps in the Norwegian fjords. Second intermediate hosts are certain shrimps in shallow water (*Palaemon* spp.), harbouring metacercaria larvae of the trematode in the musculature (*H. fasciata* life cycle reviewed by Blend and Dronen (2015)). Hence, the eels from Grimstad likely acquired their *H. fasciata* infections by feeding on glass shrimps *Palaemon elegans* or Baltic shrimps, *P. adspersus*. Olsson (1868) found *Helicometra faciata* in eels from Bergen.

Hemiurus communis

Hemiurus communis is found in the stomach of fish from several families and is considered unspecific. It has a boreal distribution, in European coastal waters from the Bay of Biscay to about Lofoten in Norway (Køie 1984, Gibson & Bray 1986, Gibson 1996).

The life cycle involves at least three hosts. First intermediate host is a marine snail (*Retusa truncatula*) where the cercaria develops. The free-swimming cercariae infect zooplankton copepods being second intermediate hosts that harbour metacercariae. These are infective for the final host, a teleost fish. Small fish species and young specimens of final hosts acquire the parasite by ingesting infected copepods, while larger fishes most likely acquire the trematode

by ingesting smaller infected fishes (Køie 1995). Hence, the eels of the sizes studied here likely became infected by eating smaller planktivorous fishes.

Hemiurus communis has previously been reported from European eel from Norway, in Bergen (Olsson (1868) *vide* Odhner (1905)). The species has also been reported from seawater-caught eels in Denmark and Germany (Jakob et al. 2016).

Brachyphallus crenatus

Brachyphallus crenatus has an Arctic-boreal distribution and is found in the stomach of various kinds of marine teleosts (low host specificity). Its life cycle involves at least three hosts, with the first intermediate host being the snail *Retusa obtusa* releasing cercariae. The second intermediate host is a zooplankton copepod where infective metacercariae develops, infecting planktivorous teleost final host. *B. crenatus* survive in anadromous salmonids during migration into freshwater, and thus the species may act as a biological indicator for marine foraging (Køie 1992). The parasite most often infects salmonids, clupeids, gasterosteids and pleuronectids, but is also found infecting European eels in both brackish and marine areas in Denmark and in marine areas in Germany and Poland (Køie 1988b, Køie 1992, Jakob et al. 2016). The parasite has not previously been registered in European eel in Norway.

Lecithochirium rufoviride

Lecithochirium rufoviride is a trematode which is specific to eels, infecting both the European eel and the conger eel, *Conger conger* (Køie 1990).

The life cycle of *L. rufoviride* has been found to involve four hosts (Køie 1990). The cercariae develop in the gastropod *Steromphala cineraria* (Køie 1990), copepods are supposed to act as second intermediate host and small fishes, e.g. goldsinny, as third intermediate host. Eel and conger are final hosts (Køie 1984). Experimental life cycle studies indicate that the species in addition to the four-host life cycle could have a three-host life cycle, depending on the crustacean host (Køie 1990).

In the present study, *L. rufoviride* was found in the stomach of seawater-caught eels from Grimstad and Smøla. The parasite showed a strong correlation between abundance and eel size. In this case the larger eels, eating small fishes with metacercariae, will accumulate a

higher abundance of the trematode compared to the smaller eels that could become infected by feeding on copepods.

Lecithochirium rufoviride has previously been registered in European eels in Norway from Sotra, Bergen and Langesund (Olsson 1868, Lönnberg 1890, Gibson & Bray 1986). It has also been registered in eels from Denmark, Faroe Islands, Germany, Portugal and Spain (Jakob et al. 2016).

Derogenes varicus

Derogenes varicus is a very common trematode in the stomach of marine fish from the North-Atlantic including the entire Norwegian coast. It infects a wide range of unrelated teleosts, and is hence regarded as unspecific (Gibson 1996, Køie 2000).

The life cycle, that takes place in saltwater, involves at least three hosts; the first intermediate host is a snail (*Lunatia* spp.) where the cercariae develop. These infect copepods, the second intermediate host where infective metacercaria develop in the body cavity. The second intermediate host can be a number of common zooplankton copepods, like *Calunus* spp. The final host, normally a teleost, is infected by eating zooplankton. Also, several different transport hosts can be part of the life cycle, like chaetognatha, ctenophores or planktivorous fish (Køie 1979). Predatory fish accumulate *D. varicus* from eating prey and the intensity of infection with the parasite can therefore get high in predators such as cod (Meskal 1967). The seawater-caught eels found infected from Etne and Smøla found infected had likely become infected by feeding on small fish, such as sandeels.

Derogenes varicus has previously been reported from European eel in Norway, from Bergen by Olsson (1868) and the Trondheimsfjord (Land et al. 1966), but has also been registered in other fish species along the entire Norwegian coast (Køie 1984). The parasite has been registered in European eels from Iceland, Denmark and Spain (Jakob et al. 2016).

Lecithaster gibbosus

Lecithater gibbosus is a common trematode that infect the intestine of marine teleosts in the North Atlantic ocean and adjacent seas. The parasite is recorded in the intestine of members from most teleost families, and is therefor not considered host spesific (Køie 1989, Gibson 1996).

The life cycle is marine with cercariae that develops in the snail *Branchystomia eulimoides*. The released cercariae are eaten by certain zooplankton copepods acting as a second intermediate host. These then contains infective metacercaria in the body cavity. The final host is a plankton feeding teleost or larger predatory fish feeding on them again (Køie 1989).

L. gibbosus (as *Distoma bergense* Olsson, 1868) was reported from European eel from Bergen, Norway (Olsson 1868). The trematode has also been recorded in seawater-caught eels from Denmark and Spain (Jakob et al. 2016).

The European eel of the size studied here probably become infected after eating planktivorous fishes, the trematode likely being transferred from one fish host to another (Køie 1989).

Diplostomum spathaceum

Metacercariae from members of the genus *Diplostomum* inhabit the brain and various regions of the eyes of fish (Field & Irwin 1995). Only one of the eels studied here had metacercariae infecting the vitreous humour of the eye, identifies as *Diplostomum spathaceum*. Hence European eel may serve as the second intermediate host in the three-host life cycle of this trematode. The first intermediate host is the snail *Lymnaea pereger* were the cercariae develop, and the parasite matures in a fish-eating bird (Køie 1988a, Køie 1988b).

Diplostomum spp. metacercariae have been registered in European eels from Denmark, England, Ireland, Iceland, Latvia and Spain (Jakob et al. 2016). Mo and Sterud (1998) reported *Diplostomum* sp. from European eel in Norway from Årungen lake in Eastern Norway. The present case seems to be the first time that such metacercariae in eel has been identified to species.

<u>Cestoda</u>

Eels can act as both intermediate host for larval stages and final host for adult individuals in the life cycle of cestoda. When fish act as intermediate host the plerocercoids are found either free in the gut or encapsulated in tissues, depending on the cestode group. Encapsulated plerocercoids can accumulate in older fish since they may be long lived. Adult worms are found attached by their scolex to the intestinal mucosa (Bruno et al. 2013). The typical life cycle of cestodes include a free-living egg or larval stage (coracidium), a procercoid stage in the first intermediate host (in general a copepod), and a plerocercoid stage in the second intermediate host (a large variety of copepod-eating anials), and the adult in the final host (fish-eating fish, birds or marine mammals) (Möller & Anders 1986).

Scolex pleuronectis

Scolex pleuronectis is today used as a designation for tetrabothridial cestode larvae normally found free in the intestine of marine teleosts and in squids. It is now clear that larvae of this type is the alternating stage of several groups of phyllobothriidean and onchobothriidean cestodes (Caira & Jensen 2014). The morphologically very similar plerocercoids of this type found in eels from Etne likely all represented *Phyllobothrium squali* according to the 28S rDNA sequences. This species matures in the spiral valve of dogfish *Squalus acanthias*, a shark very common in the area.

Proteocephalus macrocephalus

Proteocephalus macrocephalus is a specific parasite of eels, found in the intestine (Køie 1988b, Scholz & Hanzelova 1998, Dezfuli et al. 2014). Certain planktonic copepods are first intermediate hosts, containing procercoids developing in their body cavity (Køie 1988b, Scholz 1999). The definitive hosts, eels, can become infected directly when consuming the copepods. However, larger eels rarely feed on copepods, so invertebrates and small prey fishes feeding upon plankton are likely to occur in the life cycle, but their role in the transmission is unclear (Scholz 1999). Free *Proteocephalus* larvae are common in the intestine of small fish such as sticklebacks (Rødland 1980, Zander et al. 2002).

Proteocephalus macrocephalus is a freshwater parasite but tolerant the eel's migration to sea (Dezfuli et al. 2014). In the present study the cestode is recorded from eels in Etne, where it was found both in freshwater and seawater-caught fish. The infected seawater-caught eels were caught near the river mouth of the river Etneelva, which can explain the freshwater parasite infection with habitat shifting eels.

The tapeworm has previously been recorded in European eels from Norway by Andersen (1979). Those eels were caught in brackish waters in the Oslofjord. Besides Norway, the parasite has been registered in countries all over Europe (Jakob et al. 2016).

Bothriocephalus claviceps

Bothriocephalus claviceps is a common intestinal parasite specific to eels (Køie 1988b, Scholz 1997, Dezfuli et al. 2014). The tapeworm only require one intermediate host, a cyclopid copepod, for completing the development. It is also assumed that small fish can serve as transport hosts, and represent a source of infection for the larger eels (Scholz 1997). The life-cycle is carried out in freshwater (Dezfuli et al. 2014).

In the present study the tapeworm was registered at three of the freshwater localities, Etne, Bjugn and Orkla. It has previously been found eels caught in Årungen and lower River Glomma on the east coast of Norway by Mo and Sterud (1998).

Dibothriocephalus ditremus

Species of the genus *Dibothriocephalus* have complex life cycles. Copepods serve as first intermediate hosts, fish as second intermediate host harbouring encapsulated plerocercoids, and fish-eating birds or mammals as final hosts. *D. ditremus* is mostly found as plerocercoids in salmonids and the final host is mergansers (Henricson 1977, Borgstrøm et al. 2017). In the salmonids, the small plerocercoids are normally found in the stomach wall, the same site they were found in the freshwater-caught eels from Etne. Within the eels, the capsules were brownish, and many contained recognizable but degenerated plerocercoids. In addition there were capsules without identifiable contents, perhaps remains of killed and degenerated worms. This is the first record of this tapeworm species in European eel.

Eubothrium cf. crassum

Eubothrium crassum (Bloch, 1779) is a widespread parasite which is found in the alimentary tract of salmonids in freshwater. A similar or conspecific tapeworm is also found to infect salmonids in seawater, and the marine 'race' or species is often referred to as *Eubothrium* sp. (Berland 1997). This is a common cestode in farmed salmon and trout at aquaculture localities on the west coast of Norway. The life cycle of both the freshwater and marine form is relatively simple with only one intermediate host, copepods (Rosen 1919, Saksvik et al. 2001). Small fishes are important transport hosts, but are not essential for the continuation of the life cycle (Vik 1963). In Norway, the natural final hosts are the *Salmo* spp. The importance of *Eubothrium* larvae that end up in the wrong fish host is unknown.

Free bothriocephalidean plerocercoids were found in the lumen of the intestine in seawatercaught eels from Etne. Some of the largest specimens were morphologically similar to *Eubothrium crassum*, whit craspedote strobila. The smaller specimens had a smoother surface and were not possible to identify morphologically. A selection of these, together with specimens morphologically similar to *Eubothrium crassum*, were molecularly identified using LSU rDNA sequencing. All sequences were similar to *Eubothrium crassum* and *Eubothrium* sp. from seawater farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo* salar) in Norway. However, marine and freshwater specimens of *E. crassum* cannot be distinguished from each other morphologically or molecularly so they are therefore referred to as *Eubothrium* cf. *crassum*. Since there were no such plerocercoids in freshwater-caught Etne eels, it is highly likely that these plerocercoids represented the marine form, common in farmed Atlantic salmon in the Hardangerfjord.

The tapeworm have been recorded from European eels caught in Lake Neusiedler in Austria (Kritscher 1986, Jakob et al. 2016). However, Scholz et al. (2003) found that the tapeworms from Austria were misidentified, they represented *Bothriocephalus claviceps*. Hence there are no previous valid records of *E. crassum* in eels in Europe.

4.1.4 Acanthocephala

Echinorhynchus gadi

Echinorhynchus gadi is the most common acanthocephalan infecting marine fish in the North Atlantic (Marcogliese 1994) and the only adult acanthocephalan infecting marine fish in Norway. *E. gadi* is a common parasite in codfish, but may be found in almost all marine teleosts in Norway. The life cycle involves two hosts, the intermediate host is certain amphipods and the definitive host is a teleost (Miller 1977, Marcogliese 1994).

The parasite was registered in three eels in total, seawater-caught eels from Etne and Smøla. This is the first record of *E. gadi* in European eels in Norway. It has previously been registered in European eels from Germany and Russia (Jakob et al. 2016).

4.1.5 Nematoda

Nematodes or roundworms are among the most common parasites. As a group they are easy to distinguish from other worms, but species determination is complicated. Roundworms

parasitize fish in both their adult and larvae stage. The life cycle can be direct or involve one or several intermediate hosts, and often transport hosts. Crustaceans are known to play an important role as intermediate hosts for most species (Möller & Anders 1986).

Pseudocapillaria tomentosa

Pseudocapillaria tomentosa is a wide-spread intestinal parasite of freshwater fishes in the Northern Hemisphere. It is mainly a parasite of the intestine of cyprinids in Europe, but is also found in other fishes (Anderson 2000, Leis et al. 2016). The roundworm has a direct life cycle, with oligochaetes which may serve as transport hosts (Leis et al. 2016).

In Europe, the parasite is known form the U.K., Scandinavia and throughout Europe from France to trans-Caucasia (Leis et al. 2016). It is reported from European eels from Denmark, Germany, Italy and Spain (Jakob et al. 2016), it has not previously been reported from European eels in Norway.

Eustrongylides sp.

Eustrongylides spp. are found in both marine and freshwater fish and uses teleosts as an intermediate host in the life cycle. The first intermediate host is aquatic oligochaetes were the nematode develops to a third stage larvae (Measures 1988). These infect fish, which serve as a transport host, and develop into fourth stage larvae. The larvae are encapsulated, mainly in the mesentery and the intestinal serosa. Some of the encapsulated larvae undergo degeneration and die, due to the hosts immune responses. Larvae that survive in the teleost may end up in the final host, a piscivorous bird (Anderson 2000, Urdes et al. 2015).

The *Eustrongylides* sp. specimens observed in the freshwater-caught eels in Etne were encapsulated in the stomach wall. Some were degenerated and presumed dead. This can be an indication that eels are unsuitable hosts. These worms may grow much larger in salmonids which seems to be the dominant hosts in western Norway (Elnan 1995). The identity of the *Eustrongylides* sp. infecting salmonids and eels in western Norway is unknown, but some authorities have identified them with *E. mergorum* (Rudolphi, 1809), a species infecting *Mergus* spp. (Køie 1988a, Elnan 1995). Goosander *Mergus merganser* is a final host in Norway according to Elnan (1995), who found adult mature worms in the proventriculus of this fish-eating duck.

This is the first reported observation of *Eustrongylides* sp. in European eels in Norway, but several *Eustrongylides* spp. have been reported from eels in Europe previously (Urdes et al. 2015, Jakob et al. 2016).

Daniconema anguillae

Daniconema is a tissue parasite, and has been registered in the swim-bladder, intestine and in the subcutaneous connective tissue in the fins of eels in freshwater (Køie 1988b, Molnár & Moravec 1994, Molnár 1997).

The life cycle of the genus *Daniconema* has not been studied, but the life cycles of related deniconematids and skrjabillanids are known. These nematodes develop in the ectoparasitic branchiurans, *Argulus* spp., being the intermediate hosts. It is highly probable that *D. anguillae* larvae also reach the third larval stage, the maturity level necessary for infectivity, in that crustacean (Molnár & Moravec 1994, Molnár 1997). The parasite is transferred to the host's tissue when it penetrates through the crustacean's mouth organs as the crustacean is sucking blood from the host. After entering the connective tissue, the parasite can migrate into internal organs of the fish host for further development and maturation (Molnár & Moravec 1994).

In the present study, *D. anguillae* was found in freshwater-caught eels from Grimstad, Etne and Orkla. Larvae of the hostozoic parasite was detected in the connective tissue of the pectoral fin, dorsal fin and in the gill lamellae, but likely occurred throughout much of the eel's tissues. The abundance of *D. anguillae* larvae, as quantified in the pectoral fins or gills, showed a positive correlation with eel length. If a blood sucking branchiuran of the genus *Argulus* is involved in the life cycle (Molnár 1997), the eels may become infected when the branchiuran feed on eel blood. The older and larger eels may have experienced this several times, a possible explanation for them harbouring more larvae. However, this is uncertain, since this life cycle pattern occurring in other daniconematids has not yet been studied and verified for *D. anguillae*. Curiously, there was a single infected eel in freshwater in Litledalsvatn, Etne. *Arguglus* spp. is not known to occur in western Norway north of Jæren (Økland 1985, Sterud 1999), so this individual is either a migrant or the transmission of the parasite is independent of the branchyuran.

Infections in the gills have not been registered before, and this is also the first reported infection with *Daniconema anguillae* in European eel in Norway. In Europe, the nematode

has only been detected infrequently and in few countries (Molnár 1997, Jakob et al. 2016). But as the present study evidence, the prevalence might be much higher than what has been registered based on swimbladder examinations, due to the fact that the parasite is dispersed in the tissues and difficult to detect so even heavy infections may be overlooked (Molnár 1997).

Paraquimperia tenerrima

Paraquimperia tenerrima is a specific freshwater parasite of the European eel. Several studies has been done on the life cycle of the nematode and different cycles has been proposed (Kennedy et al. 1992, Barker & Cone 1997, Shears & Kennedy 2005). An indirect life cycle, involving an intermediate host, seems most likely (Shears & Kennedy 2005). The identity of the intermediate host has been considered to be a planktonic invertebrate, or a fish (Kennedy et al. 1992, Barker & Cone 1997, Shears & Kennedy 2005). Shears and Kennedy (2005) studied the capability of stage two larvae to infect invertebrates, eels directly and other fish species. They concluded that *P. tenerrima* require an obligate fish intermediate host and found that in England this was the minnow (*Phoxinus phoxinus*).

Freshwater-caught eels from Etne, Bjugn and Orkla were registered infected in this study. Minnow is not known to inhabit these localities, so other small fish could be involved. Stickleback are widespread in the coastal areas where eels live, is known to be a part of the eels diet (Jakobsen et al. 1988), and seems a candidate.

Paraquimperia tenerrima has been reported from wild eels in Norway previously, Mo and Sterud (1998) reported the parasite from eels caught in Årungen and Glomma. The late prof.B. Berland found it in eel in Lake Kalandsvatn near Bergen (pers. comm. Karlsbakk). The nematode has also been registered in several other countries in Europe (Jakob et al. 2016).

Paracuaria adunca

Paracuaria adunca is an avian parasite that uses fish as a transport host. The fish is infected by third stage larvae which develops in the first intermediate host, an amphipod. The final host is gulls (Laridae) (Anderson & Wong 1982).

Only seawater-caught eels from Etne were infected with this nematode. This is the first registered finding of *P. adunca* in European eels caught in Norway. The parasite has been

recorded in other fish species in Norway (Karlsbakk et al. 1996), and in eels in Denmark and Germany (Jakob et al. 2016).

Cucullanellus minutus

Only a single specimen of this nematode was found. It is a parasite of flatfishes, in particular the flounder *Platichtys flesus*. Intermediate host is the marine polychaete *Hediste diversicolor*. However, immature and even adult specimens occasionally occur in gobies, which also may act as transport hosts (see Køie (2001)).

This is the first record of *C. minutus* in European eel caught in Norway. *Cucullanellus* spp. have previously been reported from eels from the areas around the British Isles, Spain and Russia (Jakob et al. 2016)

Hysterothylacium aduncum

This is a common parasite in the digestive tract of marine teleosts in Norway, Europe and elsewhere. Larvae of the species are known to occur in marine crusteaceans, particularly copepods (benthic or planktonic), which serve as the first intermediate host. Invertebrates or fish ingesting crustaceans with larvae may serve as a second intermediate host or a transport host with third stage larvae (Køie 1993) encapsulated in the viscera. However, when fish ingest prey harbouring larger third-stage larvae (>3 mm), these may moult to preadults and finally adults in the gut (Køie 1988b, 1993). Smaller larvae may re-establish in viscera (Køie 1993). Remarkably, the eels in the present study were only found infected with adults and preadults, suggesting they tend to eat prey with larvae longer than about 3 mm. Kristmundsson and Helgason (2007) found only encapsulated larvae in Icelandic eels, while Køie (1988b) found both larvae and adults in Danish eels. Therefore, eels do seem to act as transport hosts.

This is the first record of *H. aduncum* in eels caught in Norway. The parasite has been registered in eels in other parts of Europe from France in the south to Iceland in the north (Kristmundsson & Helgason 2007, Jakob et al. 2016).

Anisakis simplex

Anisakis simplex is a parasite which is common as a third stage larvae in a variety of marine teleosts. The final host in the lifecycle is certain whales (Mattiucci et al. 2017). Krill (Euphausiacea) represent the most important first intermediate host where third stage larvae develop. The final host can be infected directly by eating krill, but fish or squids who eats krill may act as transport hosts (Højgaard 1998). This parasite may be transmitted from prey to predator fish, accumulating in the food chain (Haarder et al. 2013).

In this study, A. simplex were registered in seawater-caught eels from Smøla and in freshwater-caught eels from Grimstad. Being a marine parasite, the finding in freshwatercaught eels is surprising, but there are similar cases. Aguilar et al. (2005) and Saraiva and Eiras (1996) both registered findings of A. simplex in Iberian freshwater-caught eels. Saraiva and Eiras (1996) examined eels caught in the rive Este (Portugal), and considered the occurrence of the marine parasite either as due to an infection acquired during their estuarine glass eel phase or an indication that they may migrate down to and feed in the estuarine waters after freshwater entry (inter habitat shifting). Anguilar et al. (2005) examined eels caught in two rivers in Spain and found 89 specimens of the parasite in one large eel from the river Ulla. They also concluded that the parasite most likely had been acquired in the marine environment, probably as a result of ingestion of small marine fish. The freshwater-caught eels from Grimstad were also relatively large and may also have the acquired A. simplex infections by feeding on small marine fish. However, the freshwater locality in Grimstad differs from the others studied here with the seawater inflow. Albeit the saline bottom waters tend to be anoxic, certain marine fishes such as herring do enter the lake. Therefore, it is possible that the eels there may have become infected with A. simplex larvae when eating a transport host of marine origin in freshwater. A feeding excursion to the Strandfjord is also a possibility, there are no barriers. However, that they should acquire infections in marine waters before they entered the lake as juveniles seems contradicted by the general lack of A. *simplex* in other freshwater eel populations (present study, Jakob et al. 2016)

This is the first registered finding of *A. simplex* in European eels caught in Norway. Other reports of the parasite in European eels are from Germany, Iceland, Spain and Portugal (Saraiva & Eiras 1996, Jakob et al. 2016), mostly from seawater-caught fish.

Contracaecum spp.

Parasites of the genus *Contracaecum* are common anisakids of aquatic organisms in freshwater, brackish and marine ecosystems (Garbin et al. 2011). Besides a phylogenetic clade with *Contracaecum* spp. infecting pinnipeds (Nadler et al. 2005), most *Contracaecum* spp. infects fish-eating birds. The life cycles of the avian species involves several hosts, often with crustaceans as first intermediate host, various fish species as second transport hosts and piscivorous birds as final host (Li et al. 2005, Szostakowska & Fagerholm 2007). Direct infections of fish with *C. rudolphii* larvae is also possible (two-host life cycle), but this may be uncommon in nature (Moravec 2009, Dziekonska-Rynko et al. 2010).

In the present study, *Contracaecum* spp. larvae were in registered in eels caught in both freshwater and seawater. DNA sequences (ITS) showed that worms from Grimstad FW, Grimstad SW and Etne SW belonged to the Contracaecum rudolphii complex. Studies on the internal transcribed spacers (ITS) in the rDNA of C. rudolphii have shown that this species is genetically heterogenous and there are at least two sibling species in Europe which are reproductively isolated genotypes, referred to as C. rudolphii A and B (Li et al. 2005, Szostakowska & Fagerholm 2007). Both are parasites of cormorants (Phalacrocorax spp.). The present C. rudolphii from Grimstad FW and Grimstad SW and Etne SW was of type A, apparently a species with marine or estuarine life cycle since the larvae are confined to fish on these environments (Szostakowska & Fagerholm 2007). However, the sequences obtained from worms from eels caught in the Smøla area were of another species, these genetically identified with Contracaecum chubutensis (Garbin et al. 2011). An adult worm from a cormorant from Masfjord included in the genotyping had the same identity, previously only known from cormorants in Argentina. The worm from Etne FW was not possible to identify, because the genotyping was ambiguous, with similarity to both C. rudolphii A and B. Genotype B is considered a freshwater species (Szostakowska & Fagerholm 2007).

This is the first time *Contracaecum rudolphii* and *C. chubutensis* has been reported from European eels caught in Norway. *C. rudolphii sensu lato* has previously been reported from Denmark and *Contracaecum* sp. from eels in several other countries in Europe (Jakob et al. 2016).

Anguillicola crassus

The blood-sucking swimbladder nematode, *Anguillicola crassus*, is an eel specialist (Køie 1991). The species is ovoiviparous and is trophically transmitted. At least two hosts are involved in the life cycle that takes place in freshwater, an intermediate host and the eel definitive host. The intermediate host is a freshwater cyclopoid copepod that hosts the developing third stage larvae which is infective to eels. Small fishes can serve as transport hosts and be another source of infection for the eels (Køie 1988c, 1991, Kennedy 2007, Lefebvre et al. 2012).

In this study, the parasite was only registered in eels caught in Grimstad, 23 freshwater-caught eels and one seawater-caught eel. The infection found in the seawater-caught eel indicates that this eel has spent time in freshwater. Kennedy and Fitch (1990) showed that the adult parasite could survive for up to four weeks when eels were kept in 100 % seawater. *A. crassus* larvae can also survive in brackish waters, but both the survival and infectivity decreases with increased salinity (Kennedy & Fitch 1990).

A. crassus has not only spread in Europe and Norway (section 4.2), but worldwide and is known to infect six out of 15-20 eel species currently described (Lefebvre et al. 2012).

4.1.6 Parasites not found

Some parasite species previously recorded in European eel from Norway were not registered in the present study. The trematode *Azygia lucii*, vestode *Triaenophorus nodulosus*, nematode *Camallanus lactustris* and copepode *Ergasilus sieboldi* recorded by Mo and Sterud (1998) in eels caught on the east coast of Norway, were not registered at any of the localities examined here because their final hosts are not naturally present there. Pike (*Esox Lucius*) is final host to *A. lucii* and *T. nodulosus*, and pike has been introduced several places in the west but as far as known without these parasites. *Camallanus lacustris* primarily infects perch (*Perca fluviatilis*), also a species that has been spread to the west, but so far this parasite has not been found there. *Ergasilus sieboldin* infects a wide range of freshwater fishes, but the most important hosts are cyprinids (Kabata 1979). Which in Norway is only known from the eastern parts, Østfold and Akershus (Sterud 1999). *Trypansosoma granulosum* is a blood flagellate, transmitted by a freshwater leech, *Hemiclepsis marginata*. This leech occurs in eastern and southern Norway (Økland & Økland 2010). The eels from the present study were mostly examined frozen, so the occurrence of this flagellate was not studied. Some microparasites such as *Ichthyobodo* spp., *Trichodina* spp. and *Gyrodactylus* spp. cannot or hardly be detected my microscopy in frozen fish, since they are destroyed. Therefore, infections with these may have been present unnoticed, except in the Etne localities where squash preparations of fresh gills were examined without detecting them. *Trichodina* sp. and *Gyrodactylus* sp. has previously been detected in Norwegian eels (see Table 1).

4.2 Parasite communities

The parasite communities in European eel in Norway are less diverse than in more southern parts of Europe. Important crustaceans such as copepods were not detected, or any of the freshwater acanthocephalans occurring in continental Europe (Jakob et al. 2016). Some eel specific parasites such as *Bucephalus anguillae* Spakulova, Macko, Berrilli et Dezfuli, 2002 and *Spinitectus inermis* (Zeder, 1800) also appears to be lacking, likely due to the absence of suitable intermediate hosts (Abdallah & Maamouri 2002, Saraiva et al. 2002).

A similar number of metazoan parasite species can be expected in a random freshwater eel individual (2.3-3.0) and a marine individual (2.2-3.4). A major difference is the number of myxosporeans (0.7-1.4 v.s. 0.3-0.5) will be expected since *Hoferellus gilsoni* and *Zschokkella* stettinensis never occur in seawater eels. However, the number of endohelminth individuals per eel is much higher in the sea, and there are several species. Contrary to in freshwater, most parasites are adult, suggesting that eels have a limited role in transmitting parasites to larger predators. In freshwater however, the situation is different, with perhaps half the parasites being larvae. This could be because glass eels, elvers and small yellow eels can be important prey for e.g. fish-eating birds such as merganers. A higher proportion of the freshwater parasite individuals (>77 %) are eel-specific, that in seawater (32 %). Still there are two marine parasites that exclusively (Deropristis inflata) or mainly (Lecithichirium *rufoviride*) infects eels. This remarkable fact is actually a strong indication that a significant proportion of the eels live in the sea. The difference between the freshwater and marine eels is particularly clear when comparing the gastrointestinal parasite communities. In Grimstad, only a single specimen of the capillariid Pseudocapillaria tomentosa was found in all the 30 eels examined. In marine eels from Etne and Smøla, 75-85 parasite individuals per eel can be expected. Overall, Paraquimperia tenerrima was the dominant parasite in freshwater, and D. inflata in the sea; both eel specialists.

4.3 Spread of exotic parasites

Two of the three exotic parasites previously registered in Norway were recorded in the present study. The swimbladder nematode, *A. crassus*, introduced in a Norwegian eel farm in 1993 (Mo & Steien 1994) and later registered in wild-caught eel (Engø 1997, Mo 2009) is believed to have spread further northwards from Imsa in Rogaland to Hordaland and Sogn og Fjordane (NBIC 2018a). The present study documents its presence in Grimstad (Fig. 45) but also suggests, whit the absence of the parasite in Etne, that it has not yet spread to the Hardanger area in western Norway. Still, further spread northwards seems likely.



Figure 45 Known geographical range (red colour) of Anguillicola crassus, localities with previous observations (yellow dots) – (left to right) Imsa, Farsund, the river Storelva, Drammenelva , Enningdal selva and the Oslofjord, new observation (blue dot) – Grimstad. Pseudodactylogyrus anguillae have since it was introduced in a Norwegian eel farm in 1987 (Mo et al. 1988) and later, in 1998 when it was registered in wild eels, spread along the east coast of Norway (Mo & Sterud 1998). The record from Grimstad in this study increases the previously known geographical range of *P. anguillae* further south (Fig. 46). Mo and Sterud (1998) also recorded the other Pseudodactylogyrus species, P. bini, which was not found in Grimstad. The chances that *P*. anguillae has spread further than P. bini, as the present study suggests, is high due to the fact that *P. anguillae* is able to reproduce at elevated salinities (Køie 1988c, Buchmann et al. 1992, Mo & Sterud 1998). P. anguillae also has an advantage in spreading when it comes to temperatures required for egg hatching. The eggs of P. anguillae needs fewer days to hatch at 10°C then P. bini's eggs which do not develop or develop very slowly at lower temperatures. (Køie 1988c).



Figure 46 Known geographical range (red colour) of *Pseudodactylogyrus anguillae*, localities with previous observations - Årungen and Glomma (yellow dots), new observation - Grimstad (blue dot).

4.4 Parasites as biological indicators

Parasites can be used as biological indicators of the populations biology, the migration patterns, diet and phylogenetics of fish (Williams et al. 1992). Bailey et al. (1989) looked into freshwater parasites potential as biological indicators in fish caught in seawater, and found several that could suitable due to their long-time survival in marine conditions.

4.4.1 Parasites as inter-habitat shifting indicators

Out of the 34 parasite species recorded, 30 were considered indicator species. Only eight of them were found infecting fish from the opposite habitat of their origin. The freshwater myxosporeans *Paramyxidium branchialis*, *P. magi, Myxobolus* sp., the cestode *Proteocephalus microcephalus* and the nematode *Anguillicola crassus* were detected in seawater-caught eels. The three seawater species detected in freshwater-caught eels were the

trematode *Podocotyle atomon* and larvae of the nematodes *Anisakis simplex* and *Contracaecum rudolphii* A.

The myxosporean parasites infected 31 of the 32 (41 %) freshwater infected seawater-caught eels. These parasites infect fish through penetration of the body surfaces (skin/gills) by sporoplasms from actinospores. Hence only exposure to freshwater is necessary in order to become infected. Infections with such histozoic myxosporeans are likely long lasting (Margolis 1982), and they are therefore represent good indicators for a freshwater residency in some part of the life history, but does not indicate how recent.

P. branchialis was the most prevalent myxosporean. Based on the molecular data, the following life cycle seems likely: Eels in lakes are exposed to synactinomyxon actinospores released from the oligochaete *Tubifex tubifex*. As in other myxosporeans, the sporoplasm secondary cells eventually give rise to plasmodia at a final site, here the eel gill-filaments. The plasmodia then develop myxospores (Holzer et al. 2004, Kristmundsson & Helgason 2007). The prevalence of *P. branchialis* was high (>30 %) at all the localities, except Bjugn FW, and this could suggest that most eels at some point have spent time in freshwater. In reality the prevalence might be even higher, when considering that only a few lamellas of one gill were examined microscopically. This supports the hypotheses that all eels go into freshwater, even at higher latitudes as in Smøla SW.

The gastrointestinal freshwater parasites which usually live for maximum a year (Chubb 1982, Margolis 1982), could therefore be better indicators of recent inter-habitat shifting. However, the endohelminths found in the present study were limited with only two species registered, *P. macrocephalus* and *Anguillicola crassus*. These parasites should not occur in seawater resident eels unless these have sojourns to freshwater. Such a case may have occurred in Etne SW, where *P. macrocephalus* infections were seen in two eels. Both these eels were among five eels that based on fatty acid analysis were classified as 'brackish water' (BW). They were both caught near the river mouth of the river Etneelva and may have become infected during visits to the river. These parasites were registered in 4 % of the seawater-caught yellow eels and indicate due to their shorter longevity, more recent movement between freshwater and marine habitats.

Among the freshwater-caught eels, 17 (18 %) were infected with parasites of marine origin. Most of these were caught in Grimstad FW, which has seawater influx and is frequented by some marine fishes. This leaves 3 % freshwater-caught eels with parasites suggestive of interhabitat shifting at the remaining localities. All the marine species were gastrointestinal and acquired through prey. *Podocotyle atomon* infected eels from Bjugn have most likely recently been feeding in the river mouth due to the short longevity of such trematodes (months) (Margolis & Boyce 1969). The parasites *Anisakis simplex* and *Contracaecum rudolphii* A occurred as encapsulated larvae in the infected eels and the duration of these infections are likely years (Chenoweth et al. 1986, Hemmingsen et al. 1993). Only eels caught in Grimstad FW were infected with these clearly marine nematodes which in this study makes it difficult to use them for indication due to the saltwater input. *A. simplex* has been discovere

The lack of gastrointestinal parasites infecting eels caught in the opposite habitat of their origin and high prevalence of freshwater myxosporeans in both habitas are also seen in studies from Iceland (Kristmundsson & Helgason 2007) and Denmark (Køie 1988b). It seems like most seawater-caught eels have gone into freshwater as elvers, acquired an infection of myxospoeans which they carry their entire life, and very few re-enter freshwater later, given the low prevalence of gastrointestinal parasites.

The fatty acid analysis and otolith microchemistry analyses done on the sample from Etne SW did not always detect a time spent in freshwater as implied by the parasite observations. Freshwater myxosporean infections were seen in eels with a clear marine fatty acid signature, which is not surprising due to the longevity of the myxosporeans. The fatty acid signature has a relatively short temporal resolution, weeks to a year, in comparison to parasites and otolith microchemistry analyses. This makes it possible for an eel who has acquired a myxosporean infection several years previously to also have a clear marine fatty acid signature. The same goes for otolith microchemistry analyses, with freshwater myxosporean infected eels showing marine water resident (MWR) otolith microchemistry.

The challenge with many of the indicator parasites is the lack knowledge about the life cycles and the parasites longevity in the eels. More knowledge about this would increase the amount of information an indicator parasite can provide. The low prevalence of most of the observed parasites makes it hard to use them as indicators at higher than the individual level.

4.4.2 Parasites as diet indicators

Some of the marine eel parasites are good indicators of the hosts diet. These typically occur as larval stages in only one or a few related intermediate host species. *Deropristis inflata* infections are only acquired through feeding on certain nereid polychaetes common in sandy

bottoms in shallow waters. The acanthocephalan *Echinorynchus gadi*, the trematode *Podocotyle atomon* and the nematode *Paracuaria adunca* are all transmitted by amphipods. Indeed some individual eels had very high intensities with *P. adunca* and *E. gadi* while most were uninfected, suggestive of prey specialization (Knudsen et al. 2004).

5 Conclusion and future perspectives

This study provide evidence, through knowledge about the parasite's life cycles, that Norwegian eels migrate between fresh and seawater. Histozoic myxosporeans were the most prevalent indicator species of freshwater residency and could suggest that all eels enter freshwater and stay for a period, after which some re-enter the sea. The gastrointestinal parasites indicates more recent habitat shifting. A low prevalence indicate that the amount of recent inter-habitat shifting is low, <5 % a year.

Marine parasites were detected in freshwater-caught eels, but the prevalence was low when direct marine influence (seawater inflow) could be excluded.

The knowledge on eel parasite diversity in Norway has been significantly increased, with 21 additional species registered in European eel caught in Norwegian waters. A possible new species for science was also found. Exotic parasites were represented by *Pseudodactylogyrus anguillae* and *Anguillicola crassus*, but *Pseudodactylogyrus bini* were not recorded at any localities. The geographic range of *P. anguillae* was expanded to Landvikvannet in Grimstad, while the absence of *A. crassus* in Etne suggests that it has not yet reached Hordaland.

There was no good association between the parasite findings and the results from otolith microchemistry analyses and fatty acid analysis, due to the low prevalence of short lived indicator parasites.

The gill myxosporean *Paramyxidium giardi* seems to be an important indicator for interhabitat shifting and knowledge about the time span of a *P. branchialis* infection is needed. Future studies should also look into other methods for detection of the parasite, e.g. molecular testing on gill-biopsis.

References

- Abdallah LG-B, Maamouri F (2002) Cycle évolutif de Bucephalus anguillae Špakulová, Macko, Berrilli & Dezfuli, 2002 (Digenea, Bucephalidae) parasite de *Anguilla anguilla* (L.). Systematic Parasitology 53:207-217
- Aguilar A, Alvarez MF, Leiro JM, Sanmartin M (2005) Parasite populations of the European eel (*Anguilla anguilla* L.) in the Rivers Ulla and Tea (Galicia, northwest Spain). Aquaculture 249:85-94
- Aken'Ova TO, Cribb TH, Bray RA (2006) *Helicometra* Odhner, 1902 (Digenea: Opecoelidae) in Australian waters: problems of species identification and a description of *H. sprenti* n. sp. Systematic Parasitology 63:17-27
- Andersen KI (1979) Variation in scolex morphology within and between some species of the genus *Proteocephalus* Weinland (Cestoda, Proteocephala) with references to strobilar morphology. Zoologica Scripta 8:241-248
- Andersen KI, Gibson DI (1989) A key to three species of larval Diphyllobothrium Cobbold, 1858 (Cestoda: Pseudophyllidea) occurring in European and North American freshwater fishes. Systematic Parasitology 13:3-9
- Anderson R, Wong P (1982) The transmission and development of *Paracuaria adunca* (Creplin, 1846)(Nematoda: Acuarioidea) of gulls (*Laridae*). Canadian Journal of Zoology 60:3092-3104
- Anderson RC (2000) Nematode parasites of vertebrates : their development and transmission. CABI Pub., Wallingford, Oxon, UK ;,New York, NY
- Arai HP (1989) Guide to the parasites of fishes of Canada. Part III. Acanthocephala and Cnidaria Canadian Special Publication of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 107:1-90
- Arai HP, Smith JW (2016) Guide to the Parasites of Fishes of Canada Part V: Nematoda. Zootaxa 4185:1-275
- Aschonitis V, Castaldelli G, Lanzoni M, Rossi R, Kennedy C, Fano EA (2017) Long-term records (1781–2013) of European eel (*Anguilla anguilla* L.) production in the Comacchio Lagoon (Italy): evaluation of local and global factors as causes of the population collapse. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 27:502-520
- Bailey RE, Workman GD, Margolis L (1989) Survival of certain naturally acquired freshwater parasites of juvenile sockeye salmon, *Oncorhynchus nerka* (Walbaum), in hosts held in fresh and sea water, and implications for their use as population tags. Revue canadienne de zoologie 67:1757-1766
- Bardal H, Aune S, Skjøstad MB, Berger HM, Adolfsen P (2019) Bekjempelse av gjedde i Sikavassdraget og Ålvatnet, Orkdal kommune, i 2018. Veterinærinstituttets rapportserie
- Barker D, Cone D (1997) Development of metazoan parasite communities in the American eel, *Anguilla rostrata*: Patterns, processes and applicability as biological tags. In. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing
- Benajiba MH, Silan P, Marquès A, Bouix G (1994) Protozoaires et Métazoaires parasites de l'anguille *Anguilla anguilla*, L. 1758: Structures temporelles de leurs populations dans une lagune méditerranéenne.
- Berg F (2018) Population structure and dynamics of Atlantic herring : a case study of herring inhabiting marginal habitats in Landvikvannet and its vicinity. PhD thesis, University of Bergen, Bergen

- Bergan MA (2016) Vannøkologiske undersøkelser i Botngårdsvassdraget og utløps-/tilløpsbekker til Eidsvatnet, Bjugn kommune, i 2015. Undersøkelser av bunndyr, ungfisk og problemkartlegging i henhold til vannforskriften. In: NINA Rapport 1273. NINA
- Berland B (1961) Nematodes from some Norwegian marine fishes. Sarsia 2:1-50
- Berland B (1997) Current fish parasite problems Scandinavia and adjoining area. Acta Parasitologica Turcica 20:429-443
- Blend CK, Dronen NO (2015) A review of the genus *Helicometra* Odhner, 1902 (Digenea: Opecoelidae: Plagioporinae) with a key to species including *Helicometra overstreeti* n. sp. from the cusk-eel Luciobrotula corethromycter Cohen, 1964 (Ophidiiformes: Ophidiidae) from the Gulf of Mexico. Marine Biodiversity 45:183-270
- Bonhommeau S, Blanke B, Tréguier AM, Grima N, Rivot E, Vermard Y, Greiner E, Le Pape O (2009) How fast can the European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) larvae cross the Atlantic Ocean? Fisheries Oceanography 18:371-385
- Borgstrøm R, Trømborg J, Haugen T, Rosseland B (2017) Plerocercoids of the cestode *Diphyllobothrium ditremum* in brown trout *Salmo trutta*: substantial increase in infection after establishment of European minnow *Phoxinus phoxinus*. Journal of Fish Biology 91:912-927
- Bruno D, Noguera P, Poppe TT (2013) A Colour Atlas of Salmonid Diseases, Vol. Springer, Dordrecht
- Buchmann K, Mellergaard S, Køie M (1987) *Pseudodactylogyrus* infections in eel: a review. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 3:51-57
- Buchmann K (1988) Spatial distribution of *Pseudodactylogyrus anguillae* and *P. bini* (Monogenea) on the gills of the European eel, *Anguilla anguilla*. Journal of Fish Biology 32:801-802
- Buchmann K (1989) Relationship between host size of *Anguilla anguilla* and the infection level of the monogeneans *Pseudodactylogyrus* spp. Journal of Fish Biology 35:599-601
- Buchmann K, Felsing A, Slotved H (1992) Effects of metrifonate, sodium chloride and bithionol on an European population of the gill parasitic monogeneans *Pseudodactylogyrus* spp. and the host *Anguilla anguilla*. Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists 12:57-60
- Buchmann K (1993) Epidémiologie et contrôle des infections ā *Pseudodactylogyrus* dans les élevages intensifs d'anguilles: données actuelles. Bulletin Franțais de la Pęche et de la Pisciculture:66-73
- Bush AO, Lafferty KD, Lotz JM, Shostak AW (1997) Parasitology Meets Ecology on Its Own Terms: Margolis et al. Revisited. The Journal of Parasitology 83:575-583
- Bykhovskaya-Pavlovskaya I (1962) Class TREMATODA Rudolphi, 1808. Digenetic Trematodes. In: Pavlovskii, EN (ed), Key to Parasites of Freshwater Fish of the USSR, pp. 438-521
- Bøgwald M (2019) The Infection Cycle of *Marteilia pararefringens* sp. nov. in the blue mussel, *Mytilus edulis* L. MSc thesis, The University of Bergen,
- Caira JN, Jensen K (2014) A Digest of Elasmobranch Tapeworms. Journal of Parasitology 100:373-391
- Castonguay M, Durif CM (2016) Understanding the decline in anguillid eels. ICES Journal of Marine Science 73:1-4
- Chenoweth JF, McGladdery SE, Sindermann CJ, Sawyer TK, Bier JW (1986) An investigation into the Usefulness of Parasites as tags for Herring (*Clupea harengus*) Stocks in the Western North Atlantic, with Emphasis on Use of the Larval Nematode *Anisakis simplex*. Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science 7:25-33
- Chubb JC (1982) Seasonal Occurrence of Helminths in Freshwater Fishes Part IV. Adult Cestoda, Nematoda and Acanthocephala. Advances in Parasitology 20:1-292
- Copland JW (1982) *Myxobolus dermatobia* (Ishii, 1915) infection of wild eels, *Anguilla anguilla* L., in England. Journal of Fish Diseases 5:549-552
- Daoudi F, Radujkovic BM, Marques A, Bouix G (1989) Parasites des Poissons marins du Montenegro: Coccidies. Acta Adriatica 30:13-30
- Daverat F, Limburg KE, Thibault I, Shiao J-C, Dodson JJ, Caron F, Tzeng W-N, Iizuka Y, Wickström H (2006) Phenotypic plasticity of habitat use by three temperate eel species, *Anguilla anguilla*, *A. japonica* and *A. rostrata*. Marine Ecology Progress Series 308:231-241
- Dawes B (1947) The trematoda of British fishes, Ray Society, London
- Dawes B (1968) The trematoda: with special reference to British and other European forms, Vol. CUP Archive
- Debaisieux M (1925) *Myxidium giardi*, Cepede, et *Sinuolina gilsoni* nov. sp. deux Myxosporidies de l'anguille. Annales de la Société Scientifique, Bruxellex 44:374-379
- Dezfuli B, Giari L, Castaldelli G, Lanzoni M, Rossi R, Lorenzoni M, Kennedy C (2014) Temporal and spatial changes in the composition and structure of helminth component communities in European eels *Anguilla anguilla* in an Adriatic coastal lagoon and some freshwaters in Italy. Parasitology Research 113:113-120
- Directorate of Fisheries (2018) Akvakulturtillatelser andre arter, spesifisert på art etter art og år. <u>https://www.fiskeridir.no/Tall-og-analyse/Statistikkbanken</u>
- Drouineau H, Durif C, Castonguay M, Mateo M, Rochard E, Verreault G, Yokouchi K, Lambert P (2018) Freshwater eels: A symbol of the effects of global change. Fish and fisheries 19:903-930
- Durif C, Dufour S, Elie P (2005) The silvering process of *Anguilla anguilla* : a new classification from the yellow resident to the silver migrating stage. Journal of Fish Biology 66:1025-1043
- Durif C, Dufour S, Elie P (2006) Impact of silvering stage, age, body size and condition on reproductive of the European eel. Marine Ecology Progress Series 327:171-181
- Durif C, Knutsen JA, Johannessen T, Vøllestad LA (2008) Analysis of European eel (Anguilla anguilla) time series from Norway. In, Book nr. 8/2008. Havforskningsinstituttet, Bergen
- Durif C, Guibert A, Elie P (2009a) Morphological discrimination of the silvering stages of the European eel. In: Casselman JM, Cairns DK (eds) Eels at the edge: science, status, and conservation concerns Book 58. American Fisheries Society Symposium, Bethesda, Maryland
- Durif C, van Ginneken V, Dufour S, Müller T, Elie P (2009b) Seasonal evolution and individual differences in silvering eels from different locations. In: Spawning migration of the European eel. Springer, pp. 18-38
- Durif C, Gjøsæter J, Vøllestad LA (2011) Influence of oceanic factors on *Anguilla anguilla* (L.) over the twentieth century in coastal habitats of the Skagerrak, southern Norway.
 Proceedings of the Royal Society B 278:464-473
- Durif C, Diserud OH, Sandlund OT, Thorstad EB, Poole R, Bergesen K, Escobar-Lux RH, Shema S, Vøllestad LA (2020) Age of European silver eels during a period of declining abundance in Norway. Ecology and Evolution 2020;10: 4801-4815
- Dziekonska-Rynko J, Rokicki J, Gomulka P (2010) Development of larval *Contracaecum rudolphii* Hartwich, 1964 (Ascaridida: Anisakidae) in experimentally infected goldfish (Carassius auratus L., 1758). Journal of helminthology 84:234-240

- Eggers F, Slotte A, Libungan LA, Johannessen A, Kvamme C, Moland E, Olsen EM, Nash RD (2014) Seasonal dynamics of Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus* L.) populations spawning in the vicinity of marginal habitats. PloS one 9.11:e111985
- El-Mansy A (1998) Development of Myxobolus portucalensis Saraiva & Molnar, 1990 (Myxosporea: Myxobolidae) in the oligochaete *Tubifex tubifex* (Müller). Systematic Parasitology 41:95-103
- Elnan SD (1995) Aspects of the ecology of Eustrongylides sp. (Nematoda: Dioctophymatoidea), parasite of brown trout (*Salmo trutta* L.) and fish-eating birds. In. S.D. Elnan, Bergen
- Engø T (1997) Parasitter tok knekken på sørlandsk åleoppdrett. Fiskaren (08.04.97), p.7
- Fazio G, Mone H, Lecomte-Finiger R, Sasal R (2008) Differential gene expression analysis in European eels (*Anguilla Anguilla*, L. 1758) naturally infected by macroparasites. Journal of Parasitology 94:571-577
- Fazio G, Sasal P, Lecomte-Finiger R, Da Silva C, Fumet B, Moné H (2009) Macroparasite communities in European eels, *Anguilla anguilla*, from French Mediterranean lagoons, with special reference to the invasive species *Anguillicola crassus* and *Pseudodactylogyrus* spp. Knowledge and Management of Aquatic Ecosystems 390-391:06
- Fiala I (2006) The phylogeny of Myxosporea (Myxozoa) based on small subunit ribosomal RNA gene analysis. International Journal for Parasitology 36:1521-1534
- Field J, Irwin S (1995) Life-cycle description and comparison of *Diplostomum spathaceum* (Rudolphi, 1819) and *D. pseudobaeri* (Razmaskin & Andrejak, 1978) from rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum) maintained in identical hosts. Parasitology Research 81:505-517
- Filippi JJ, Quilichini Y, Foata J, Marchand B (2013) Influence of site, season, silvering stage, and length on the parasites of the European eel Anguilla anguilla in two Mediterranean coastal lagoons of the island of Corsica, France using indicator species method. Parasitology Research 112:2959-2969
- Folch J, Lees M, Stanley GS (1957) A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipides from animal tissues. Journal of biological chemistry 226:497-509
- Freeman M, Kristmundsson Á (2018) Studies of *Myxidium giardi* Cépède, 1906 infections in Icelandic eels identifies a genetically diverse clade of myxosporeans that represents the *Paramyxidium* n. g. (Myxosporea: Myxidiidae). Parasites & Vectors 11:551
- Freyhof J, Kottelat M (2010) *Anguilla anguilla*. Accessed 25. August. <u>https://nc.iucnredlist.org/redlist/species-of-the-day/anguilla-anguilla/pdfs/original/anguilla-anguilla.pdf</u>
- Garbin L, Mattiucci S, Paoletti M, González-Acuña D, Nascetti G (2011) Genetic and morphological evidences for the existence of a new species of *Contracaecum* (Nematoda: Anisakidae) parasite of *Phalacrocorax brasilianus* (Gmelin) from Chile and its genetic relationships with congeners from fish-eating birds. The Journal of Parasitology:476-492
- Gibson DI, Bray RA (1986) Hemiuridae (Digenea) of fishes from the north-east Atlantic, Bulletin of the British Museum (Natural History). Zoology 51:1-125
- Gibson DI (1996) Trematoda. In: Margolis L, Kabata Z (eds) Guide to the parasites of fishes of Canada Part IV Trematoda, Book 124. Canadian Special Publication of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, Ottawa
- Haraldstad T, Hindar A, Hobæk AB, Håvardstun J, Skjelbred B (2013) Resipientundersøkelse av Reddalsvann, Grimstad. Report, NIVA

- Hemmingsen W, Lysne D, Eidnes T, Skorping A (1993) The occurrence of larval ascaridoid nematodes in wild-caught and in caged and artificially fed Atlantic cod, *Gadus morhua* L., in Norwegian waters. Fisheries research 15:379-386
- Henkel CV, Burgerhout E, de Wijze DL, Dirks RP, Minegishi Y, Jansen HJ, Spaink HP, Dufour S, Weltzien F-A, Tsukamoto K, van den Thillart GEEJM, Schubert M (2012)
 Primitive Duplicate Hox Clusters in the European Eel's Genome (Hox Clusters in the European Eel Genome). PLoS ONE 7:e32231
- Henricson J (1977) The abundance and distribution of *Diphyllobothrium dendriticum* (Nitzsch) and *D. ditremum* (Creplin) in the char *Salvelinus alpinus* (L.) in Sweden. Journal of Fish Biology 11:231-248
- Herland H, Lekang O-I, Stevik TK (1997) Innføring i fiske og oppdrett av ål = Introduction to eel fisheries and eel farming, Vol 86/97. Norges landbrukshøgskole, Institutt for tekniske fag, Ås
- Holzer AS, Sommerville C, Wootten R (2004) Molecular relationships and phylogeny in a community of myxosporeans and actinosporeans based on their 18S rDNA sequences. International Journal for Parasitology 34:1099-1111
- Hoshina T (1952) Notes on some myxosporidian parasites on fishes of Japan. Journal of the Tokyo University of Fisheries 39:69-89
- Hunninen AV, Cable RM (1943) The Life History of *Podocotyle atomon* (Rudolphi) (Trematoda: Opecoelidae). Transactions of the American Microscopical Society 62:57-68
- Højgaard DP (1998) Aspects of the Life Cycle of Whaleworm, *Anisakis simplex* (Nematoda: Ascaridoidea), and Its Infection of Saithe, *Pollachius virens* (L.), Vol. Nabbin
- Haarder S, Kania PW, Buchmann K (2013) Comparative infectivity of three larval nematode species in three different salmonids. Parasitology Research 112:2997-3004
- ICES (2019) Joint EIFAAC/ICES(GFCM Working Group on Eels (WGEEL). . In: ICES Scientific Reports Book 1:50
- IMR (2017) Institute of Marine Research. Havforskningsrapporten 2017. In: Bakketeig IE, Hauge M, Kvamme C (eds) Fisken og havet, særnummer 2017-1. Havforskningsinstituttet
- Ishii S (1915) Myxosporidiosis of Japanese eel. Dobutsugaku zasshi 27:382-372
- Jakob E, Hanel R, Klimpel S, Zumholz K (2009) Salinity dependence of parasite infestation in the European eel *Anguilla anguilla* in northern Germany. ICES Journal of Marine Science 66:358-366
- Jakob E, Walter T, Hanel R (2016) A checklist of the protozoan and metazoan parasites of European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*): checklist of *Anguilla anguilla* parasites. Journal of Applied Ichthyology 32:757-804
- Jakobsen PJ, Johnsen GH, Larsson P (1988) Effects of predation risk and parasitism on the feeding ecology, habitat use, and abondance of lacustrine threespine stickleback (*Gasterosteus aculeatus*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 45:426-431
- Jensen PM (1998) Åleoppdrett i kjelleren. Norsk Fiskeoppdrett 12:39
- Kabata Z (1979) Parasitic copepoda of British fishes. Ray Society, London 152:1-468
- Karlsbakk E, Hodenland K, Nylund A (1996) Health status of goldsinny wrasse, including a detailed examination of the parasite community at Floedevigen, southern Norway. In (Sayer MDJ, Treasurer JW, Costello MJ, eds) Wrasse: biology and use in aquaculture, pp. 228-239. Oxford, Blackwell

Kennedy CR, Fitch DJ (1990) Colonization, larval survival and epidemiology of the nematode *Anguillicola crassus*, parasitic in the eel, *Anguilla anguilla*, in Britain. Journal of Fish Biology 36:117-131

Kennedy CR, Nie P, Kaspers J, Paulisse J (1992) Are eels (*Anguilla anguilla* L.) planktonic feeders? Evidence from parasite communities. Journal of Fish Biology 41:567-580

- Kennedy CR (2007) The pathogenic helminth parasites of eels. Journal of Fish Diseases 30:319-334
- Kent M, Khattra J, Hervio D, Devlin R (1998) Ribosomal DNA sequence analysis of isolates of the PKX myxosporean and their relationship to members of the genus Sphaerospora. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health 10:12-21
- Kent ML, Andree KB, Bartholomew JL, El-Matbouli M, Desser SS, Devlin RH, Feist SW, Hedrick RP, Hoffmann RW, Khattra J, Hallett SL, Lester RJG, Longshaw M, Palenzeula O, Siddall ME, Xiao C (2001) Recent Advances in Our Knowledge of the Myxozoa. Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology 48:395-413
- Knudsen R, Curtis MA, Kristoffersen R (2004) Aggregation of hekminths: The role of feeding behavior of fish hosts. Journal of Parasitology 90:1-7

Kristmundsson A, Helgason S (2007) Parasite communities of eels *Anguilla anguilla* in freshwater and marine habitats in Iceland in comparison with other parasite communities of eels in Europe. Folia Parasit 54:141-153

- Kritscher E (1986) Die Fische des Neusiedlersees und ihre Parasiten VI. Cestoidea. Annalen des Naturhistorischen Museums in Wien Serie B für Botanik und Zoologie:183-192
- Køie M (1979) On the morphology and life-history of *Derogenes varicus* (Müller, 1784) Looss, 1901 (Trematoda, Hemiuridae). Zeitschrift für Parasitenkunde 59:67-78
- Køie M (1984) Digenetic trematodes from *Gadus morhua* L. (Osteichthyes, Gadidae) from Danish waters, with special reference to their life-histories. Ophelia 23:195-222
- Køie M (1988a) Parasites in eels, *Anguilla anguilla* (L.), from eutrophic Lake Esrum (Denmark). Acta Parasitologica Polonica 33:89-100

Køie M (1988b) Parasites in European eel *Anguilla Anguilla* (L.) from Danish Freshwater, Brackishand Marine Localities. Ophelia 29:93-118

Køie M (1988c) The swim-bladder nematodes *Anguillicola* spp. and the gill monogeneans *Pseudodactylogyrus* spp. in European eels. ICES CM 1988/Mini No 3:11 pp.

- Køie M (1989) On the morphology and life history of *Lecithaster gibbosus* (Rudolphi, 1802) Lühe, 1901 (Digenea, Hemiuroidea). Parasitology Research 75:361-367
- Køie M (1990) Redescription of the cercaria of *Lecithochirium rufoviride* (Rudolphi, 1819) Lühe, 1901 (Digenea, Hemiuridae) (*=Cercaria vaullegeardi* Pelseneer, 1906). Ophelia 31:85-95
- Køie M (1991) Swimbladder nematodes (*Anguillicola* spp.) and gill monogeneans (*Pseudodactylogyrus* spp.) parasitic on the European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*). Journal de Conseil International pour l'Exploration de la Mer 47:391-398
- Køie M (1992) Life cycle and structure of the fish digenean *Brachyphallus crenatus* (Hemiuridae). The Journal of parasitology 78:338
- Køie M (1993) Aspects of the life cycle and morphology of *Hysterothylacium aduncum* (Rudolphi, 1802)(Nematoda, Ascaridoidea, Anisakidae). Canadian Journal of Zoology 71:1289-1296
- Køie M (1995) The life-cycle and biology of *Hemiurus communis* Odhner, 1905 (Digenea, Hemiuridae). Parasite 2:195-202
- Køie M (2000) Metazoan parasites of teleost fishes from atlantic waters off the Faroe Islands. Ophelia 52:25-44
- Køie M (2001) The life cycle of *Dichelyne (Cucullanellus) minutus* (Nematoda: Cucullanidae). Folia Parasitologica 48:304-310

- Lacey SM, Williams IC (1983) *Epieimeria anguillae* (Léger & Hollande, 1922) Dyková & Lom, 1981 (Apicomplexa: Eucoccidia) in the European eel, *Anguilla anguilla* (L.). Journal of Fish Biology 23:605-609
- Land Jvd, Anker WJ, Rijksmuseum van Natuurlijke Historie te L (1966) Verslag van een zoölogische excursie naar Noorwegen en Zweden in 1965, waaraan toegevoegd een deel van de resultaten van excursies in 1961 en 1963, Vol. Bureau der Universiteit, Leiden
- Lefebvre F, Fazio G, Crivelli AJ (2012) *Anguillicoloides crassus*. In: Woo PTK, Buchmann K (eds) Fish Parasites: Pathobiology and Protection. Wallingford, CAB International
- Léger L, Hollande A-C (1922) Coccidie de l'intestin de l'anguille. Comptes rendus hebomadaires des séances de l'Académie des science, Paris179:999-1002
- Leis E, Easy R, Cone D (2016) Report of the Potential Fish Pathogen Pseudocapillaria (Pseudocapillaria) tomentosa (Dujardin, 1843) (Nematoda) from Red Shiner (Cyprinella lutrensis) Shipped from Missouri to Wisconsin. Comparative Parasitology 83:275-278
- Li A-X, D'Amelio S, Paggi L, He F, Gasser R, Lun Z-R, Abollo E, Turchetto M, Zhu X-Q (2005) Genetic evidence for the existence of sibling species within *Contracaecum rudolphii* (Hartwich, 1964) and the validity of *Contracaecum septentrionale* (Kreis, 1955) (Nematoda: Anisakidae). Parasitology Research 96:361-366
- Lindholm M (2012) Ålens svømmeblæremark (Anguillicola crassus). Vann 01:63-67
- Littlewood D, Curini-Galletti M, Herniou EA (2000) The interrelationships of Proseriata (Platyhelminthes: Seriata) tested with molecules and morphology. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 16:449-466
- Lom J, Molnar K, Dyková I (1986) *Hoferellus gilsoni* (Debaisieux, 1925) comb. n. (Myxozoa, Myxosporea): redescription and mode of attachment to the epithelium of the urinary bladder of its host, the European eel. Protistologica 22:405-413
- Lönnberg E (1890) Helminthologische Beobachtungen von der Westküste Norwegens. Erster teil Cestoden. Bihang till Kongliga Svenska Vetenskaps-Akaddemiens Handlingar 16:47 pp.
- Marcogliese DJ (1994) *Aeginina longicornis* (Amphipoda: Caprellidea), New Intermediate Host for *Echinorhynchus gadi* (Acanthocephala: Echinorhynchidae). The Journal of Parasitology 80:1043-1044
- Margolis L, Boyce NP (1969) Life Span, Maturation, and Growth of Two Hemiurid Trematodes, *Tubulovesicula lindbergi* and *Lecithaster gibbosus*, in Pacific Salmon (Genus Oncorhynchus). Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 26:893-907
- Margolis L (1982) Pacific salmon and their parasites: a century of study [Canada]. Bulletin of the Canadian Society of Zoologists 13:7-11
- Matejusová I, Simková A, Sasal P, Gelnar M (2003) Microhabitat distribution of *Pseudodactylogyrus anguillae* and *Pseudodactylogyrus bini* among and within gill arches of the European eel (*Anguilla anguilla* L.). Parasitology Research 89:290-296
- Mattiucci S, Cipriani P, Paoletti M, Levsen A, Nascetti G (2017) Reviewing biodiversity and epidemiological aspects of anisakid nematodes from the North-east Atlantic Ocean. Journal of Helminthology 91:422-439
- Mayo-Hernandez E, Penalver J, Garcia-Ayala A, Serrano E, Munoz P, Ruiz de Ybanez R (2015) Richness and diversity of helminth species in eels from a hypersaline coastal lagoon, Mar Menor, south-east Spain. Journal of Helminthology 89:345-351
- McGuigan JB, Sommerville C (1985) Studies on the effects of cage culture of fish on the parasite fauna in a lowland freshwater loch in the west of Scotland. Zeitschrift für Parasitenkunde 71:673-682

Measures LN (1988) The development of *Eustrongylides tubifex* (Nematoda: Dioctophymatoidea) in oligochaetes. The Journal of parasitology:294-304

- Melendy J, Cone D (2003) Aspects of the parasite/host relationship of *Hoferellus gilsoni* (Myxozoa), a urinary bladder parasite of the American eel (*Anguilla rostrata*), from the Timber/Connaught Lake watershed in south central Nova Scotia. Journal of Parasitology
- Meskal FH (1967) Seasonal fluctuation in the population of two common trematode species from the stomach of the cod. Sarsia 26:13-20
- Miller RL (1977) The biology of two species of Echinorhynchus (Acanthocephala) from marine fishes in Oregon. PhD thesis. Oregon State University.
- Mo TA, Håstein T, Lunder T (1988) Pseudodactylogyrus-en problemparasitt i åleoppdrett. Norsk Fiskeoppdrett 9:30-34
- Mo TA, Steien SH (1994) First observation of the eel swimbladder nematode *Anguillicola crassus* in Norway. Bulletin of the European Association of fish Pathologists 14:163-164
- Mo TA, Sterud E (1998) First observations of *Pseudodactylogyrus* spp. and other parasites in wild eel (*Anguilla anguilla* L.) in Norway. Bulletin of the Scandinavian Society of Parasitology 8:1-5
- Mo TA (1999) Monogenea (haptormark). In: Poppe T (ed) Fiskehelse og fiskesykdommer. Universitetsforlaget, Oslo
- Mo TA (2009) Dødelig asiatisk åleparasitt spres i norsk fauna. Norsk Veterinærtidsskrift 121:350-353
- Molnár K, Lom J, Malik E (1986) A skin disease of the eels caused by *Myxobolus kotlami* n. sp. Journal of Applied Ichthyology 2:42-48
- Molnár K, Moravec F (1994) Third-stage larvae of *Daniconema anguillae* (Nematoda: Dracunculoidea) in the subcutaneous tissue of eel *Anguilla anguilla*. Folia Parasitologica 41:215-215
- Molnár K (1997) New data on the location of *Daniconema anguillae* (Nematoda: Dracunculoidea) adult stages in eels. Bulletin of the European Association of fish Pathologists 17:96-98
- Moravec F (1987) Revision of capillariid nematodes (subfamily Capillariinae) parasitic in fishes, Vol. Academia, Praha. 141 p.
- Moravec F, Køie M (1987) *Daniconema anguillae* gen. et sp. n., a new nematode of a new family Daniconematidae fam. n. parasitic in European eels. Folia Parasitologica 34:335-340
- Moravec F (2009) Experimental studies on the development of *Contracaecum rudolphii* (Nematoda: Anisakidae) in copepod and fish paratenic hosts. Folia Parasitologica 56:185
- Möller H, Anders K (1986) Diseases and parasites of marine fishes, Vol. Möller Verlag, Kiel
- Nadler SA, D'Amelio S, Dailey MD, Paggi L, Siu S, Sakanari JA (2005) Molecular phylogenetics and diagnosis of Anisakis, Pseudoterranova, and Contracaecum from northern Pacific marine mammals. Journal of Parasitology 91:1413-1429
- NBIC (2018a) Norwegian Biodiversity Information Centre. *Anguillicoloides crassus,* vurdering av økologisk risiko. Accessed 2019, 26. august. https://artsdatabanken.no/Fab2018/N/2548
- NBIC (2018b) Norwegian Biodiversity Information Centre. *Pseudodactylogyrus anguille*, vurdering av økologisk risiko. Accessed 2019, 22. august. <u>https://artsdatabanken.no/Fab2018/N/2614</u>
- Odhner NJT (1901) Revision einiger arten der distomengattung Allocreadium Lss, Zoologischer Jahrücher, Systematik 14:483-520

- Odhner NJT (1905) Die Trematoden des arktischen Gebietes : mit Tafel II-IV und 4 Figuren in Text. B. 4, Lief. 2, Gustav Fischer, Jena
- Ogawa K, Egusa S (1976) Studies on eel pseudodactylogyrosis. 1. Morphology and classification of three eel dactylogyrids with a proposal of a new species, *Pseudodactylogyrus microrchis*. Bulletin of the Japanese Society of Scientific Fisheries 42:395-404
- Olsson P (1868) Entozoa, iaktagna hos Skandinaviska hafsfiskar., Vol 4. Acta Universitas Lundensis
- Parzanini C, Colombo SM, Kainz MJ, Wacker A, Parrish CC, Arts MT (Accepted) Freshwater and Marine Fish differ in C18 – C22 Unsaturated Fatty Acid Content. (The title will change, as it's been requested by the Editor handling this submission. Environmental Reviews.)
- Poole WR, Reynolds J (1996) Growth rate and age at migration of *Anguilla anguilla*. Journal of Fish Biology 48:633-642
- Reversat J, Maillard C, Silan P (1991) Polymorphismes phénotypique et enzymatique: intérêt et limites dans la description d'espèces d'Helicometra (Trematoda: Opecoelidae), mésoparasites de téléostéens marins. Systematic Parasitology 19:147-158
- Rocha S, Alves Â, Antunes C, Azevedo C, Casal G (2019) Molecular data infers the involvement of a marine aurantiactinomyxon in the life cycle of the myxosporean parasite *Paramyxidium giardi* (Cnidaria, Myxozoa). 146:1555-1563
- Rodjuk G, Shelenkova O (2006) Parasite fauna of the European eel (*Anguilla anguilla* L, 1758) from the Russian part of the Vistula Lagoon (Baltic Sea). Wiad Parazytol 52:121-125
- Rohtla M, Vetemaa M, Taal I, Svirgsden R, Urtson K, Saks L, Verliin A, Kesler M, Saat T (2014) Life history of anadromous burbot (*Lota lota*, L inneaus) in the brackish B altic S ea inferred from otolith microchemistry. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 23:141-148
- Rosen F (1919) Recherches sur le développement des cestodes. 1. Le cycle évolutif des Bothriocéphales.Bull Soc Naeuchateloise Sci Nat 1917-1918 43:241-300
- Rødland JT (1980) Cestoder i trepigget stingsild, *Gasterosteus aculeatus* L., og nipigget stingsild, *Pungitius pungitius* (L.), fra Bunnefjorden. Morfologi og populasajonsdynamikk, Cand Scient thesis, University of Oslo
- Saksvik M, Nylund A, Nilsen F, Hodneland K (2001) Experimental infection of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) with marine *Eubothrium* sp.(Cestoda: Pseudophyllidea): observations on the life cycle, aspects of development and growth of the parasite. Folia Parasitologica 48:118-126
- Saraiva A, Molnár K (1990) *Myxobolus portucalensis* sp. n. in the fins of the European eel *Anguilla anguilla* L. in Portugal. Revista ibérica de parasitología 50:31-35
- Saraiva A, Eiras JC (1996) Parasite community structure of European eel, *Anguilla anguilla* (L.), in the River Este, northern Portugal. Research and Reviews in Parasitology 56:179-183
- Saraiva A, Moravec F, Pereira A, Cruz C (2002) Development of *Spinitectus inermis* (Nematoda: Cystidicolidae), a parasite of eel, *Anguilla anguilla*, in Europe. Folia Parasitologica 49:118-126
- Schmidt J (1923) The Breeding Places of the Eel. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B, Containing Papers of a Biological Character (1896-1934) 211:179-208
- Scholz T (1997) Life-cycle of *Bothriocephalus claviceps*, a specific parasite of eels. Journal of Helminthology 71:241-248

- Scholz T, Hanzelova V (1998) Tapeworms of the genus Proteocephalus Weinland, 1858 (Cestoda: Proteocephalidae), parasites of fishes in Europe. Academia Studie AV CR 1998:1-118
- Scholz T (1999) Life cycles of species of *Proteocephalus*, parasites of fishes in the Palearctic Region: a review. Journal of Helminthology 73:1-19
- Scholz T, Kuchta R, Shinn AP, Šnábel V, Hanzelová V (2003) Host specificity and geographical distribution of Eubothrium in European salmonid fish. Journal of Helminthology 77:255-262
- Shears JA, Kennedy CR (2005) The life cycle of *Paraquimperia tenerrima*: a parasite of the European eel *Anguilla anguilla*. Jorunal of Helminthology 79:169-176
- Skiftesvik AB, Karlsen Ø, Opstad I, Torrissen OJ (2003) Vitenskapelig grunnlag for nye arter i oppdrett = Scientific evaluation of potential new species in Norwegian aquaculture. In: Vitenskapelig grunnlag for nye oppdrettsarter, Book nr 6-2003. Havforskningsinstituttet, Bergen
- Statistics Norway (2019) 06367: Fangst, etter fangstart, bruk, statistikkvariabel og år. Accessed 27. August. <u>https://www.ssb.no/statbank/table/06367/tableViewLayout1/</u>
- Steigen A, Karlsbakk E, Plarre H, Watanabe K, Øvergård A-C, Brevik Ø, Nylund A (2015) A new intracellular bacterium, Candidatus *Similichlamydia labri* sp. nov. (Chlamydiaceae) producing epitheliocysts in ballan wrasse, *Labrus bergylt*a (Pisces, Labridae). Archives of Microbiology 197:311-318
- Sterud E (1999) Parasitter hos norske ferskvannsfisk. Norsk Zoologisk Forening Rapport 7:22 s.
- Stossich M (1902) Sopra una nuova specie delle Allocreadiinae. Archive de Parasitologie 5:578-582
- Szostakowska B, Fagerholm H-P (2007) Molecular identification of two strains of third-stage larvae of Contracaecum rudolphii sensu lato (Nematoda: Anisakidae) from fish in Poland. The Journal of parasitology 93:961-964
- Tesch FW (2003) The Eel, Vol. 3, Blackwell Publishing
- Tsukamoto K, Nakai I, Tesch VW (1998) Do all freshwater eels migrate? Nature:635
- Urdes LD, Marin MP, Diaconescu C, Nicolae CG, Hangan M (2015) First case report of Eustrongylidosis in eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) populations inhabiting Danube Delta lakes. Agriculture and Agricultural Science Procedia 6:277-280
- Vaes F (1978) Notes on the life-cycle of *Deropristis inflata* (Molin, 1958)(Trematoda Digenea: Acanthocolpidae): transmission between first and second intermediate host. Biologisch Jaarboek Dodonaea 46:202-209
- van den Thillart G, Dufour S, Rankin JC (eds) (2009) Spawning Migration of the European Eel. Reproduction index, a useful tool for conservation management, Vol. Springer
- van Ginneken VJ, Maes GE (2005) The European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*, Linnaeus), its lifecycle, evolution and reproduction: a literature review. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries 15:367-398
- Vann-nett.no Etnefjorden. Accessed 25.03. <u>https://vann-nett.no/portal/#/waterbody/0260020400-C</u>
- Vann-nett.no Grosfjorden-indre. Accessed 25.03. <u>https://vann-nett.no/portal/#/waterbody/0121000300-1-C</u>
- Vann-nett.no Trondheimsleia Skarsdøya Sør. Accessed 25.03. <u>https://vann-nett.no/portal/#/waterbody/0320010203-4-C</u>
- Vik R (1963) Studies of the helminth fauna of Norway. IV. Occurrence and distribution of *Eubothrium crassum* (Bloch, 1779) and *E. salvelini* (Schrank, 1790)(Cestoda) in Norway, with notes on their life cycles. Nytt Magasin for Zoologi 11:47-73

Vik R (1964) The genus Diphyllobothrium: An example of the interdependence of systematics and experimental biology. Experimental Parasitology 15:361-380

- Wierzbicka J (1986) *Sphaerospora anguillae* sp. n.(Myxospora, Bivalvulida), a parasite of eel, *Anguilla anguilla* (L.). Acta Protozoologica 25:119-122
- Wierzbicka J (1987) Zschokkella stettinensis sp. n.(Myxospora, Bivalvulida)-a parasite of eel, Anguilla anguilla (L). Acta protozoologica 26:79-82
- Wierzbicka J, Orecka-Grabda T (1994) Protozoans parasitic on *Anguilla anguilla* (L.) from the Szczecin lagoon and River Odra mouth. Acta Ichthyologica et Piscatoria 24:3-11
- Williams HH, MacKenzie K, McCarthy AM (1992) Parasites as biological indicators of the population biology, migrations, diet, and phylogenetics of fish. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries 2:144-176
- Zander DC, Koçoglu Ö, Skroblies M, Strohbach U (2002) Parasite populations and communities from the shallow littoral of the Orther Bight (Fehmarn, SW Baltic Sea). Parasitol Res 88:734-744
- Zhu X, Gasser RB, Podolska M, Chilton NB (1998) Characterisation of anisakid nematodes with zoonotic potential by nuclear ribosomal DNA sequences. International Journal for Parasitology 28:1911-1921
- Økland K (1985) Om fiskelus Argulus—bygning og levevis, samt registrerte funn i Norge. Fauna 38:53-59
- Økland K, Økland J (2010) Igler (Hirudinea) i ferskvann i Norge. VI. Utbredelse og økologi til den fireøyete flatiglen Hemiclepsis marginata. Fauna 63:20-27
- Aasen V (1999) Status for norsk oppdrett av ål. Havbruksrapport 1999. 3-1999. Havforskningsinstituttet, Bergen

Appendix

Table 1 Freshwater indicator parasites used in the evaluation of eel interhabitat shifting(IHS). The background data for this list is provided section 3.4.

Freshwater parasites	Source	Ref.
Paramyxidium branchialis (My)	Penetration	Holzer et al. (2004) <i>vide</i> Freeman and Kristmundsson (2018)
Paramyxidium magi (My)	Penetration	Holzer et al. (2004) <i>vide</i> Freeman and Kristmundsson (2018)
Myxobolus sp. (My)	Penetration	Present study, El-Mansy (1998)
Hoferellus gilsoni (My)	Penetration	Lom et al. (1986)
Zschokkella stettinensis (My)	Penetration	Present study
Pseudodactylogyrus anguillae (Mo)	Penetration	Buchmann et al. (1987)
Diplostomum spathaceum (T)	Penetration	Køie (1988b)
Proteocephalus macrocephalus (C)	Prey	Scholz (1999)
Bothriocephalus claviceps (C)	Prey	Scholz (1997)
Dibothriocephalus ditremus (C)	Prey	(Vik 1964)
Pseudocapillaria tomentosa (N)	Prey	Leis et al. (2016)
Eustrongylides sp. (N)	Prey	Anderson (2000)
Paraquimperis tenerrima (N)	Prey	Shears and Kennedy (2005)
Daniconema anguillae (N)	Penetration	Molnár and Moravec (1994)
Anguillicola crassus (N)	Prey	Lefebvre et al. (2012)

Marine parasites	Source	Ref.
Hemiurus communis (T)	Prey	Køie (1995)
Brachyphallus crenatus (T)	Prey	Køie (1992)
Lecithochirium rufoviride (T)	Prey	Køie (1990)
Derogenes varicus (T)	Prey	Køie (1979)
Lecithaster gibbosus (T)	Prey	Køie (1989)
Podocotyle atomon (T)	Prey	Hunninen and Cable (1943)
Helicometra faciata (T)	Prey	Blend and Dronen (2015)
Deropristis inflata (T)	Prey	Køie (1988b)
Eubothrium sp. (C)	Prey	Saksvik et al. (2001)
Phyllobothrium squali (C)	Prey	Caira and Jensen (2014)
Cucullanellus minutus (N)	Prey	Køie (2001)
Hysterothylacium aduncum (N)	Prey	Køie (1993)
Anisakis simplex (N)	Prey	Højgaard (1998)
Contracaecum rudolphii A (N)	Prey	Szostakowska and Fagerholm (2007)
Contracaecum chubutensis (N)	Prey	Garbin et al. (2011)
Paracuaria adunca (N, L)	Prey	Anderson and Wong (1982)
Echinorhynchus gadi (A)	Prey	Marcogliese (1994)

Table 2 Marine indicator parasites used in the evaluation of eel interhabitat shifting (IHS). The background data for this list is provided section 3.4.